UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT	
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK	
X	
ANDREA MADROV on behalf of houself and	
ANDREA MADDOX, on behalf of herself and Others similarly situated,	
Others similarly situated,	
Plaintiffs,	
- against -	CLASS ACTION
	<u>COMPLAINT</u>
THE COUNTY OF SUFFOLK, THE INCORPORATED	
VILLAGE OF WESTHAMPTON BEACH,	Jury Trial Demanded
M & T BANK, DENNIS M. BROWN, Individually,	oury Trial Demanded
LEONARD KAPSALIS, Individually, DREW W.	
SCHIRMER, Individually, JACQUELINE CAPUTI,	
Individually, THE TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON and	
THE INCORPORATED VILLAGE OF SOUTHAMPTON,	
Defendants.	
X	

Plaintiff, Andrea Maddox, on behalf of herself and others similarly situated, by and through her attorneys, CAMPANELLI & ASSOCIATES, P.C., respectfully alleges as follows:

I. Nature of This Action

- 1. Plaintiff Andrea Maddox brings this case both on behalf of herself, and as a Class action, seeking a declaratory judgment, injunctive relief, compensatory damages, punitive damages, costs and attorneys fees, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§1983 and §1988, for deprivation of plaintiff's rights, and the rights of those similarly situated, which are secured by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.
- 2. The plaintiff and those similarly situated were the owners and/or lessees of motor vehicles that were seized by the County of Suffolk and the other municipal defendants herein.

- 3. The plaintiff asserts that the defendants herein deprived both the plaintiff, and hundreds of others who are similarly situated, of their respective property interests in their ownership, possession, and use of motor vehicles, without Due Process of law.
- 4. In addition, the defendants deprived both the plaintiff and others who are similarly situated, of property rights, statutory protections and contractual rights guaranteed to them under New York State laws, including but not limited to, New York Personal Property Law §302 and New York General Obligations Law §7-401.
- 5. In 1998, The United States Court of Appeals for The Second Circuit affirmatively ruled that when municipalities, such as the defendants, seize motor vehicles from their owners, the municipality cannot thereafter release those vehicles to third parties without the owners' consent, unless they first afford the owner with notice and a procedure through which the owners could challenge the unauthorized release of their vehicles to such third parties. *See* Alexandre v. Cortes, 140 F.3d 406, 412 (2nd Cir. 1998).
- 6. In a crystal-clear ruling which left no doubt as to why New York City's rules pertaining to the release of seized vehicle were unconstitutional at that time, The Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit unequivocally pronounced in Alexandre:
 - "A fatal flaw in the City Rules is that they provide no notice or procedure for the resolution of disputes concerning the ownership of an automobile prior to authorizing its release to a lienholder."

Alexandre v. Cortes, 140 F.3d 406, 412 (2nd Cir. 1998).

- 7. Despite the passage of more than twenty (20) years from that U.S. Court of Appeals' decision, the individual County defendants who control, oversee and are employed at, the Office of the Suffolk County Attorney, systematically release and cause the release of, seized vehicles to lienholders and other third parties, without affording the owners of those vehicles with notice, or a procedure through which to contest such unauthorized release of their vehicles.
- 8. Moreover, these deliberate violations of vehicle owners' clearly-established rights are exacerbated by the fact that the individual County defendants "go even further" by conditioning their release of such vehicles to third parties, such as lienholders, upon the lienholders agreeing to never return the vehicles to their respective owners, without affording the owners with any form of hearing, judicial proceeding or determination regarding the owners' respective rights to own, use and possess their respective motor vehicles.
- 9. These "conditions" unilaterally imposed by the defendants additionally deprive vehicle owners of both statutory and contractual rights of redemption vested in them under New York State Laws, which explicitly: (a) statutorily mandate that every automobile finance agreement contain a provision vesting the owner with a right to redeem vehicles in the case of a default *See* New York State Personal Property Law §302, and (b) vest every purchaser of a motor vehicle with a <u>statutory right</u> to redeem and retake physical possession of their vehicle upon curing any default under the terms of their respective finance agreement. *See* New York General Obligations Law §7-401.
- 10. Even worse, in many cases the defendants seize and dispose of owner's vehicles, despite the fact that, as in plaintiff Andrea Maddox's case, the owner of such vehicle has never been convicted of, or plead guilty to, any criminal offense, violation, or even a traffic offense, based upon which their respective vehicle has been seized by the defendants.

- 11. By depriving the plaintiff and others similarly situated of: (a) their rights to own, possess and use their respective automobiles without notice or a hearing, and (b) their statutorily created and protected rights to redeem, the defendants have deprived the plaintiff, and others who are similarly situated, of valuable property rights and statutory rights, without due process of law, in violation of their U.S. Constitutional Rights as guaranteed them under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.
- 12. The plaintiff seeks Class action certification pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

II. Jurisdiction and Venue

- 13. Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court by 28 U.S.C. §§1343(a)(3) and §1343(a)(4), which provide for original jurisdiction in the Court for all suits brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983.
- 14. Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court by 28 U.S.C. §1331 because the cause of action arises under the Constitution and laws of the United States.
- 15. The supplemental jurisdiction of the District Court is invoked pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1367 for inter-related state claims which arise from the occurrences giving rise to the federal claims and which have a common nucleus of operative fact.
- 16. Venue lies in the Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(b)(ii) in that Suffolk County is the underlying County for purposes of venue and where the vast majority of the events occurred.

III. The Parties

- 17. Plaintiff, Andrea Maddox is an individual residing in Westhampton Beach, within the County of Suffolk, State of New York.
- 18. Upon information and belief, the defendant THE COUNTY OF SUFFOLK is a municipal corporation organized and operating under New York State law, with a principal place of business situated at 100 Veterans Memorial Highway, Hauppauge, NY 11788.
- 19. Upon information and belief, the defendant THE INCORPORATED VILLAGE OF WESTHAMPTON BEACH (hereinafter referred to as the "Village of Westhampton Beach") is an incorporated village organized and operating under New York State law, with a principal place of business situated at 165 Mill Road, Westhampton Beach, NY 11978.
- 20. Upon information and belief, the defendant M&T BANK is an entity organized and operating under New York State law, with a principal place of business situated at One M&T Plaza, Buffalo, NY 14203.
- 21. Upon information and belief, the defendant DENNIS M. BROWN is an individual with an actual place of business and/or employ located at 100 Veterans Memorial Highway, Hauppauge, NY 11788.
- 22. Upon information and belief, at all relevant times described herein, defendant Dennis M. Brown was employed as The County Attorney of The County of Suffolk, whose actual place of employ was within the Office of the County Attorney, which was, and is, situated at 100 Veterans Memorial Highway, Hauppauge, NY 11788.
- 23. Upon information and belief, the defendant LEONARD KAPSALIS is an individual with an actual place of business and/or employ located at 100 Veterans Memorial Highway, Hauppauge, NY 11788.

- 24. Upon information and belief, at all relevant times described herein, defendant Leonard Kapsalis was employed as a supervising Assistant County Attorney in The Office of the Suffolk County Attorney, whose actual place of employ was, and is, situated at 100 Veterans Memorial Highway, Hauppauge, NY 11788.
- 25. Upon information and belief, the defendant DREW W. SCHIRMER is an individual with an actual place of business and/or employ located at 100 Veterans Memorial Highway, Hauppauge, NY 11788.
- 26. Upon information and belief, at all relevant times described herein, defendant Drew Schirmer was employed as an Assistant County Attorney in The Office of the Suffolk County Attorney, whose actual place of employ was, and is, situated at 100 Veterans Memorial Highway, Hauppauge, NY 11788.
- 27. Upon information and belief, the defendant JACQUELINE CAPUTI is an individual with an actual place of business and/or employ located at 100 Veterans Memorial Highway, Hauppauge, NY 11788.
- 28. Upon information and belief, at all relevant times described herein, defendant Jacqueline Caputi was employed as an Assistant County Attorney in The Office of the Suffolk County Attorney, whose actual place of employ was, and is, situated at 100 Veterans Memorial Highway, Hauppauge, NY 11788.
- 29. The four individually-named defendants: Dennis M. Brown, Leonard Kapsalis, Drew Schirmer, and Jacqueline Caputi, are collectively referred to herein below as "the <u>individual</u> County defendants," and these four defendants together with the defendant County of Suffolk are collectively referred to herein below as "the County defendants."

- 30. Upon information and belief, the defendant THE INCORPORATED VILLAGE OF WESTHAMPTON BEACH (hereinafter referred to as the "Village of Westhampton Beach") is an incorporated village organized and operating under New York State law, with a principal place of business situated at 165 Mill Road, Westhampton Beach, NY 11978.
- 31. Upon information and belief, at all times described herein, The Westhampton Beach Police Department was, and remains, an agency of The Village of Westhampton Beach.
- 32. Upon information and belief, the defendant THE INCORPORATED VILLAGE OF SOUTHAMPTON (hereinafter referred to as the "Village of Southampton") is an incorporated village organized and operating under New York State law, with a principal place of business situated at 23 Main Street, Southampton, NY 11968.
- 33. Upon information and belief, the defendant THE TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON (hereinafter referred to as the "Village of East Hampton") is an incorporated village organized and operating under New York State law, with a principal place of business situated at 159 Pantigo Road, East Hampton, NY 11937.

IV. Preliminary Facts

- 34. More than twenty (20) years ago, the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit affirmatively ruled in <u>Alexandre v. Cortes</u>, 140 F3d.406 (2nd Cir. 1998), that when a municipality seizes a motor vehicle from its owner, the constraints of the Due Process clause prohibit such municipality from thereafter releasing such vehicle to a third party, without first affording the owner both: (a) notice of its intention to release their vehicle to a third party, and (b) a procedure through which the owner is afforded the opportunity to object to the release of their vehicle to such third party, before it is released to such third party.
- 35. With the Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit having rendered its decision in Alexandre more than two decades ago, the due process requirements pronounced therein constitute "clearly established law" of which any reasonable County Attorney who oversees, supervises, or plays a role in determining custody of seized motor vehicles would be well aware.
- 36. Upon information and belief, acting with actual knowledge of, and in willful defiance of The United States Circuit Court of Appeals' ruling in Alexandre, the defendants herein have implemented, and systematically maintained, a non-judicial administrative practice of disposing of seized vehicles by releasing them to third parties, while intentionally depriving the owners of those vehicles of both notice, or any hearing or procedure through which the owners could object to the release of their vehicles to such third parties.
- 37. The County defendants contemporaneously exacerbate the U.S. Constitutional deprivations and injuries inflicted upon vehicle owners, because in releasing the vehicles to third parties, the County defendants unilaterally impose two "conditions" upon such third parties, outside of any judicial review, and without any effort on the part of the County to pursue a judicial disposition of any type.

- 38. First, without any notice to the vehicle owner, the County defendants purport to impress a supposed lien against each respective vehicle in amounts which often range from four thousand (\$4,000.00) dollars to six thousand (\$6,000.00) dollars for "storage charges," such amounts being more than twenty (20) times higher than the storage fees being charged in the adjacent County of Nassau for the similar storage of seized vehicles.
- 39. Then, as a condition of releasing the vehicles to third parties, the County defendants require that: (a) the third parties sign a contractual agreement which provides that they will never release such vehicles back to their respective owners (or lessees), and (b) the third parties agree to pay the exorbitant "storage fees" which are arbitrarily assessed by the individual County defendants.
- 40. Typically, the first time that an owner learns that the County defendants have released the owner's vehicle to a third party, is when the third party contacts the owner and advises the owner that:
 - (a) the third party is now in possession of their vehicle;
 - (b) irrespective of any right to redeem their vehicle contained in their finance agreement or lease agreement, and New York State law, which statutorily vests owners with a right of redemption, the owner or lessee *cannot* redeem their vehicle, because the County required the lienholder to sign an agreement wherein they contracted not to release their vehicle back to such owner;
 - (c) the full remaining balance of their loan is now accelerated and due;
 - (d) in addition, the owner must reimburse the lienholder for the \$4,000.00 to \$6,000.00 which the lienholder paid to the County; and finally

- (e) for each and every month that the owner does not pay the full amount of the entire loan plus the storage fees, the lienholder will report the owners default to the three major credit reporting agencies, and will thereby virtually destroy the owner's credit rating.
- 41. As part of this procedure, the County defendants maintain a website which enables third parties to simply print out standard form agreements that have been prepared by the individual County defendants who then caused them to be uploaded onto the County's website at www.suffolkcountyny.gov.
- 42. The County defendants instruct lienholders and leasing companies to print out, complete, and return those agreements to the County Attorney's Office, after which the individual County defendants then tell the lienholder how much they will have to pay for "storage fees" and if the lienholder agrees to same, the County defendants then direct the release of the respective vehicle to such lienholder or leasing company, without affording the owners of such vehicles with notice or a hearing.
- 43. Annexed hereto as Exhibit "A" is Suffolk County form "CA-4" which the County defendants drafted, uploaded and made available online at the County's website for *lienholders* to complete to secure the release of *liened* vehicles.
- 44. To access the form, lienholders are directed to go to the County of Suffolk's internet website, suffolkcountyny.gov, click on the heading entitled "Our Services," click on the heading "Vehicle Seizures," and click on "Form CA-4" which then takes them to a subpage, http://www.suffolkcountyny.gov/Portals/0/countyattorney/Forms/CA-4%20Default%20Lien.pdf, from which they can download a copy of the form which is attached hereto as Exhibit "A."

- 45. Annexed hereto as Exhibit "B" is Suffolk County form "CA-5" which the County defendants have drafted, uploaded and made available online at the County's website for leasing companies to secure the release of *leased* vehicles, by the same process described immediately above, except that the form for leased vehicles is "CA-5", which the County made downloadable from its website subpage http://www.suffolkcountyny.gov/Portals/0/countyattorney/Forms/CA-5%20Default%20Lease.pdf.
- 46. As the individual County defendants openly disclose to lienholders, leasing companies, and their representatives, all they are required to do to secure the release of a seized vehicle is to go to the County's website, print out forms CA-4 or CA-5, complete and return them with a copy of their finance or lease agreement, and pay the storage charges.
- 47. Exhibit "C," is a letter from Assistant County Attorney ("ACA") defendant Drew Schirmer wherein Mr. Schirmer explicitly advised a lienholder, TD Auto Finance LLC, "Once these documents are submitted we will release the vehicle."
- 48. Exhibit "D," is a letter from Assistant County Attorney ("ACA") Steve Fiore-Rosenfeld, wherein Mr. Fiore-Rosenfeld explicitly advised an attorney for another lienholder, Santander Consumer USA Inc., that if he went to the County's website and submitted the completed forms from same, his client would be permitted to "pick up the vehicle."
- 49. Upon information and belief, private attorneys for the largest automobile manufacturers, leasing companies and auto finance companies in the world, have explicitly advised the individual County defendants that their practices clearly violate the U.S. Constitutional constraints detailed by the United States Court of Appeals For the Second Circuit in Alexandre and the due process rights of vehicle owners and lessees.

- 50. By way of example, annexed hereto as Exhibit "E" is a letter dated November 30, 2015, from Rudolph J. Meola, an attorney representing American Honda Finance Corporation, wherein Mr. Meola explicitly advised ACA defendant Jacqueline Caputi that the County's practices violate the Second Circuit Court of Appeals' ruling in <u>Alexandre v. Cortes</u>.
- 51. As reflected by the handwritten response written on the lower right side of the letter, ACA Jacqueline Caputi responded to Mr. Meola's letter by merely handwriting on the letter that "the lienholder may file documents on our website to retrieve the vehicle" *See* Exhibit "E."
- 52. As reflected upon the fax header on the letter, the letter, with defendant Caputi's handwritten response to Mr. Meola's objection to the County's process, was faxed back to Mr. Meola's office on 12/2/2015, at 10:53 a.m., from the Office of the Suffolk County Attorney, from fax telephone number (631) 853-5306.
- 53. Time and time again, the individual County defendants were advised, in writing, by attorneys for lienholders and leasing companies that the County defendants' practice of releasing vehicles to such third parties without affording owners with notice or a procedure to voice their objection to such release before a neutral decision-maker, violated the due process constraints made clear in Alexandre v. Cortes.
- 54. Time and time again, the defendants' response was to ignore these objections entirely and to reiterate their directives which were "just go to our website, print out the forms, and we'll release the vehicle." *See* Exhibit "F," wherein an attorney representing TD Auto Finance LLC explicitly advised defendant Jacqueline Caputi that releasing a vehicle to the lienholder without affording the owner a hearing before a neutral decision-maker would violate the holding in Alexandre.

55. As reflected on Exhibit "F," defendant Jacqueline Caputi responded to that correct assertion of law by writing back to the attorney that the lienholder could simply obtain the forms from their website, complete and file them, and the County would then release the subject vehicle to the lienholder. *See also*:

Exhibit "G" Letter containing handwritten instructions for HVT Inc. to submit papers from the County's website "Form CA4" to "expedite the release of vehicle." Such handwritten instructions were transmitted to the attorney for the lienholder by facsimile transmission on 2/24/2016 at 1:22 p.m., originating from fax number (631) 853-5306, that being a fax number belonging to the Office of the Suffolk County Attorney;

Exhibit "H" Letter containing handwritten instructions for Santander Consumer USA Inc. to "submit proper paperwork from our website for lienholder to pick up vehicle." Such handwritten instructions were transmitted to the attorney for the lienholder by facsimile transmission on 2/10/2016 at 11:14 a.m., originating from fax number (631) 853-5306, that being a fax number belonging to the Office of the Suffolk County Attorney;

Exhibit "I" Letter containing handwritten instructions for TD Auto Finance LLC., to "submit forms on our website if lienholder wishes to move forward." Such handwritten instructions were transmitted to the attorney for the lienholder by facsimile transmission on 9/4/2015 at 3:49 p.m., originating from fax number (631) 853-5306, that being a fax number belonging to the Office of the Suffolk County Attorney;

- Exhibit "J" Letter containing handwritten instructions for American Honda
 Finance Corp. to "submit papers on our website if lienholder wants
 to pick up the vehicle." Such handwritten instructions were
 transmitted to the attorney for the lienholder by facsimile
 transmission on 5/11/2016 at 10:27 a.m., originating from fax
 number (631) 853-5306, that being a fax number belonging to the
 Office of the Suffolk County Attorney;
- Exhibit "K" Letter containing handwritten instructions for Toyota Motor Credit Corp to "submit forms on our website if lienholder wishes to move forward." Such handwritten instructions were transmitted to the attorney for the lienholder by facsimile transmission on 9/9/2015 at 10:06 a.m., originating from fax number (631) 853-5306, that being a fax number belonging to the Office of the Suffolk County Attorney;
- Exhibit "L" Letter containing handwritten instructions for Toyota Motor Credit Corp to submit "our forms." Such handwritten instructions were transmitted to the attorney for the lienholder by facsimile transmission on 8/14/2015 at 12:57 p.m., originating from fax number (631) 853-5306, that being a fax number belonging to the Office of the Suffolk County Attorney.
- 56. Upon information and belief, *the reason* defendant Caputi replied to Mr. Meola by *handwriting* her response on Mr. Meola's initial letter, and faxing it back to him, is that Ms. Caputi did not want to create a letter or e-mail communication which would memorialize her communication, because she affirmatively knew that the County's ongoing practice was in direct violation of the Court of Appeals' ruling in Alexandre.

- Attorneys at the Suffolk County Attorneys' Office confirming that, irrespective of the Court's ruling in <u>Alexandre v. Cortes</u>, of which the individual County defendants were well aware, the County defendants continued to maintain its practice of releasing seized vehicles to third parties who simply visited the County's website, printed out the forms, completed and returned such forms, and paid the storage fees. *See* Exhibits "D" through "L."
- 58. Adding insult to injury, upon information and belief, private attorneys representing lienholder and leasing companies have affirmatively directed their clients (lienholders and leasing companies) *not* to enter into such agreements offered by the County of Suffolk, because such agreements clearly violate the constitutional rights of the vehicle owners, as laid bare by the Court of Appeals' decision in Alexandre v. Cortes, and when that occured, the individual County defendants then attempted to *circumvent those private attorneys by communicating with the attorneys' clients directly*, and making their offers to release the vehicles directly to the attorneys' respective clients.
- 59. Upon information and belief, in at least one such case, a Suffolk County Assistant County Attorney not only contacted the attorney's client directly, in writing, but when doing so, suggested to the client that the client fire their attorney, because their attorney was being an obstacle to the client settling cases with the defendant County of Suffolk.

- 60. Once the lienholder or leasing company prints out the forms from the County's website, completes and returns them to the individual County defendants, the individual County defendants direct the Suffolk County impound facility that is holding the vehicles to release the respective vehicle to the lienholder or leasing company, upon the lienholder or leasing company's payment of the storage charges. *See* Exhibits "M" and "N" which consist of two such directives from the County Attorney's Office to the Impound Facility.
- 61. While Exhibits "M" and "N" spuriously note that they contain "attorney work product" and/or that they were "privileged" communications, any such claims of privilege were waived when the Office of the County attorney voluntarily provided copies of same to third parties, one of which thereafter provided them to counsel for the plaintiff herein.
- 62. Significantly, Exhibit "M" was transmitted to the Suffolk County Impound Facility by facsimile transmission on 2/16/2016 at 12:09 p.m., originating from fax number (631) 853-5306, that being the very same fax number belonging to the Office of the Suffolk County Attorney, from which the other facsimile transmissions described herein originated, including Exhibits "D," "E," "F," "G," "H," "I," "J," "K" and "L."
- 63. At no point in the County's procedure is the owner or lessee of the respective vehicle provided with notice, or any opportunity to be heard at any hearing, to voice their objection to such release of their vehicle, or to protect their interests in same.
- 64. The first time the vehicle owners learn that their vehicle was released by the County, is typically when the third party sends the vehicle owner a bill to recover not only the accelerated remaining debt under their original loan or lease but also the storage fees which the third party was required to pay to the County.

- 65. Significantly, in 2012, another vehicle owner commenced a civil rights action under 42 U.S.C. §1983 in the U.S.D.C. E.D.N.Y. for the defendant County having engaged in this same unconstitutional practice in 2012, in the matter of <u>Jorge Mateo v. County of Suffolk</u>, 12-CV-6160 -- a case which is now ready for trial and remains pending.
- 66. But despite having been sued for such unconstitutional practices in a case pending since 2012, and despite the attorneys for innumerous lienholders and leasing companies affirmatively advising them, in writing, that they are violating the clearly articulated ruling of the United States Court of Appeals in <u>Alexandre v. Cortes</u>, the County defendants have simply, systematically, deliberately and intentionally, continued to violate the Due Process rights of the vehicle owners and/or lessees, as described herein, for years.

V. The Defendants' Unconstitutional Practice is Applied Against the Plaintiff, in Violation of the Plaintiff's Constitutional Rights

- 67. As of December 22, 2017, plaintiff Andrea Maddox was the owner of a 2016 BMW motor vehicle bearing Vehicle Identification Number (VIN#) 5UXWX9C51G0D86697 (hereinafter "the plaintiff's vehicle").
- 68. On or about December 22, 2017, the defendant Village of Westhampton Beach, by its authorized agents and pursuant to its official policies, procedures, and customs, seized the plaintiff's motor vehicle. Annexed hereto as Exhibit "O" are the relevant pages of a Notice of Seizure and Hearing which the plaintiff received from the Westhampton Beach Police after they seized her vehicle.

- 69. Thereafter, the Village of Westhampton Beach transferred possession of the plaintiff's vehicle to a third party, that being the defendant County of Suffolk, without the plaintiff's permission or consent, and without having afforded the plaintiff with notice, or an opportunity to be heard prior to such unauthorized transfer.
- 70. Thereafter, under the false guise of intending to pursue an action for civil forfeiture of the plaintiff's automobile under Suffolk County Code, the County defendants caused a "retention hearing" to be conducted, at which the County defendants obtained a "determination" wherein a neutral magistrate affirmatively "directed" the County to retain possession of the plaintiff's motor vehicle "pending resolution of a forfeiture proceeding" See Exhibit "P" at page 2.
- 71. But the County defendants neither retained possession of the plaintiff's vehicle nor commenced a civil action or "forfeiture proceeding" to secure civil forfeiture of same.
- 72. Instead, the individual County defendants communicated with a third party lienholder, defendant M&T Bank, and released the plaintiff's vehicle to M&T, after requiring M&T Bank to sign a contractual agreement that it could not thereafter release the plaintiff's vehicle back to the plaintiff, and additionally requiring M&T Bank to pay the County six thousand (\$6,000.00) dollars in "storage fees."
- 73. The first time the plaintiff learned of the County's intent to release her vehicle, or that it had been released, was when she received a letter from M&T Bank advising her that M&T Bank was now in possession of her vehicle. *See* Exhibit "Q."

- 74. M&T Bank then advised the plaintiff that, despite the fact that she had a contractual right to redeem any default and recover possession of her vehicle under her finance agreement with M&T Bank, M&T Bank could not honor her contractual right to redeem, because M&T Bank had subsequently entered an agreement with the defendant County, wherein M&T Bank covenanted that it could not return her vehicle to her, and thus could not honor her contractual right to redeem.
- 75. In addition, M&T Bank advised the plaintiff, that she would have to pay the entire accelerated balance of her remaining loan (\$39,748.83), plus an additional \$6,000.00 to reimburse M&T Bank for the storage charges which M&T Bank had paid to the County, and that for each and every month that she failed to pay such total amounts in full, M&T Bank would, and did, repeatedly report her as being in default of her loan agreement, to all three major credit reporting agencies.
- 76. Aside from depriving the plaintiff of any ability to contest the loss of her vehicle in any actual forfeiture action under the Suffolk County Code, the County defendants contemporaneously deprived the plaintiff of any notice, procedure or opportunity to object to the release of her vehicle to M&T Bank, by intentionally abstaining from providing her with any notice, hearing or procedure, prior to releasing her vehicle to M&T Bank, prior to inducing M&T Bank to sign an agreement wherein M&T Bank agreed that it could not return her vehicle to her, and prior to imposing a \$6,000.00 storage fee and alleged lien for same upon the vehicle.
- 77. The defendants disposed of the plaintiff's vehicle despite the fact that, as of the date of this complaint, the plaintiff has never been convicted of, nor plead guilty to, any type of criminal offense, violation, or even a traffic ticket, based upon which her vehicle was seized by the defendants, who have now disposed of same.

VI. The County Defendants

The County of Suffolk, Dennis M. Brown, Leonard Kapsalis Drew W. Shirmer and Jacqueline Caputi

- 78. Despite the passage of more than twenty (20) years since the Second Circuit Court of Appeals ruling in Alexandre v. Cortes, the defendant County of Suffolk, and the individual County defendants, have *not merely failed* to create or implement any policy, practice or procedure to provide the owners (or lessees) of seized vehicles with advance notice, or any form of hearing or procedure through which they can challenge the County's release of their respective vehicles to third parties. Upon information and belief, they have *intentionally* abstained from creating or implementing any such policy, practice or procedure.
- 79. Upon information and belief, with the actual knowledge and consent of the County Attorney, defendant Dennis M. Brown, and a supervising Assistant County Attorney, defendant Leonard Kapsalis, and under their apparent direction, the individual County defendants have set-up and maintained an *administrative procedure* through which the individual County defendants determine the custody and disposition of seized motor vehicles which have either been seized by the County, or have been seized by one of the other municipal entities joined as defendants herein, who have thereafter transferred possession of such vehicles to the County.
- 80. As intended by the County defendants, they have created and systematically employed this administrative procedure as a means of releasing such seized vehicles while:
- (a) avoiding the expenses which the County would incur if the County were to actually commence litigation to obtain judicial determinations authorizing the disposition of vehicles seized by the County;

- (b) avoiding the time and expense of determining the respective rights of persons possessing interests in such vehicles;
- (c) avoiding the time and expense of affording vehicle owners notice or a procedure through which they would be afforded an opportunity to be heard before their vehicles were released to third parties, and while
- (d) generating revenue for the County, at the expense of vehicle owners, by extracting millions of dollars in "storage fees" from third parties, the latter of whom then pursue the vehicle owners to recover repayment for same.
- 81. This administrative procedure set-up, maintained and operated by the individual County defendants authorizes the Assistant County Attorneys within the Office of the Suffolk County Attorney to direct the release such seized motor vehicles to third parties, without requiring a showing of a vehicle owner's guilt of any offense, without the filing of any lawsuit, and without any judicial determinations as to the rights and interests of parties who may claim to possess conflicting rights to the use, possession and ownership of such seized vehicles.
- 82. Instead of filing civil forfeiture actions within which vehicle owners would be afforded a proceeding within which they could protect their interests in their respective motor vehicles, the individual County defendants prepared County Attorney "CA" forms, which include "CA-4" (Exhibit "A") and "CA-5" (Exhibit "B"), and then caused them to be uploaded onto the County's internet website.

- 83. Upon information and belief, when a leased or liened vehicle is seized by the Suffolk County Police Department, the Westhampton Beach Police Department, The Town of East Hampton Police Department, or the Village of Southampton Police Department, the employees of the County Attorney's Office, including defendants Drew W. Schirmer, and Jacqueline Caputi communicate directly with the respective leasing companies, lienholders and/or their agents.
- 84. Upon information and belief, as directed and/or authorized by individual County defendants Dennis M. Brown and Leonard Kapsais, defendants Drew W. Schirmer, and Jacqueline Caputi advise lienholders and leasing companies that the County will release any vehicle for which they are a lessor or lienholder, if they simply go to the County's website, print-out "the proper form" (CA-4 or CA-5), return the completed form, and pay the County "storage fees" in amounts which typically range from \$4,000.00 to \$6,000.00 per vehicle.
- 85. Acting entirely under color of state law, the County defendants thereby deprived the plaintiff of her valuable property interests described herein, without due process of law, by:
- (A) Impressing an *ex parte* lien against the plaintiff's motor vehicle in the amount of six thousand (\$6,000.00) dollars without providing notice to the plaintiff of such alleged accruing fees and/or lien, and without affording the plaintiff an opportunity to challenge the supposed lien against her motor vehicle;
- (B) Releasing her motor vehicle to a third party without having afforded the plaintiff with advance notice, a hearing, or any procedure or opportunity to be heard, to contest the release of her vehicle to such third party, thereby depriving her ownership of the motor vehicle, her continuing right to use such motor vehicle, and her continuing right to possess her motor vehicle, and

- (C) Failing to pursue any judicial disposition or action, and instead unilaterally imposing a requirement upon the third party that the third party could never release the plaintiff's vehicle back to her, thereby depriving her of her contractual and statutory rights to redeem her vehicle from such third party (defendant M&T Bank).
- 86. In doing so, the County defendants deprived the plaintiff of her property rights inclusive of her right to own her motor vehicle, her right to possess it, her right to use it, as well as her contractual and statutory rights to redeem any alleged default under her finance agreement with M&T Bank, under which she had a contractual right to retake physical possession of her vehicle.
- 87. Upon information and belief, both the defendant County and each of the individual County defendants played an affirmative role in the violation of the plaintiff's rights to Due Process.

Monell Liability - Defendant County of Suffolk

- 88. As described herein, the defendant County of Suffolk has no policy, practice or procedure through which it provides vehicle owners (or lessees) with notice, or an opportunity to be heard, before the County releases custody and possession of motor vehicles (which had been seized from their owners), to third parties, without the knowledge or consent of the owners from whom they have been seized.
- 89. Nor does the County have a policy, practice or procedure of waiting until a vehicle owner is convicted of some underlying criminal offense, petty offense or violation, before it disposes of the owners vehicle, by giving to someone other than the owner from whom it was seized.

- 90. Instead, upon information and belief, the County defendants made a conscious decision to create and implement an administrative procedure to cause the Office of the Suffolk County Attorney, and the Assistant County Attorneys named as defendants herein, to determine the custody of, and direct the release of, seized vehicles in the manner described herein, while deliberately abstaining from providing vehicle owners and lessees with notice or an opportunity to object to the unauthorized release of their vehicles to third parties.
- 91. Such policies and practices described herein above were not random or unauthorized acts of individual agents of the County, but are, in fact, the actual policies and practices of Suffolk County, which were, and are, being systematically carried out by the individual County defendants, as was apparently directed by, and/or authorized by, the County Attorney, defendant Dennis M. Brown, and the supervising Assistant County Attorney, Leonard Kapsalis, who, upon information and belief, actively supervises defendants Drew Shirmer and Jacqueline Caputi, who determine the custody of, and direct the release of, such vehicles.
- 92. Upon information and belief, the County defendants' intentional and deliberate decision to abstain from creating or implementing any policy practice or procedure to provide vehicle owners with notice, a hearing or any opportunity to contest the release of the vehicle to third parties, was made by the final decision-makers for the County, including, but not necessarily limited to, defendants Dennis M. Brown (as The County Attorney), and Leonard Kapsalis, as a Supervising Assistant County Attorney.

- 93. Contemporaneously, the County defendants' decision to set-up and carry out an administrative procedure through which the Office of the County Attorney and the County defendants would unilaterally determine the custody of, and direct the release of, seized vehicles to third parties, was made by the final decision-makers for the County, including, but not necessarily limited to, defendants Dennis M. Brown as The County Attorney, and Leonard Kapsalis, as a Supervising Assistant County Attorney.
- 94. Because the actions described herein, and the resultant injuries sustained by the plaintiff were undertaken pursuant to policies, customs, and practices maintained by the County of Suffolk, the County is a "person" liable to the plaintiff under 42 U.S.C. §1983.
- 95. Simultaneously, the defendant County is contemporaneously liable to the plaintiff because the County and/or its final decision-makers were wholly negligent in failing to properly supervise and/or train its employees within the Office of the County Attorney, and such lack of supervision and negligence were responsible for both: (a) the failure to adopt a constitutional procedure to provide owners with notice and an opportunity to be heard, as well as (b) the implantation of the unconstitutional practices and procedures described herein, which have been, and remain, widespread, ongoing, systematic, and were the proximate cause of the constitutional injuries inflicted upon the plaintiff herein.

Dennis M. Brown, Leonard Kapsalis, Drew W. Shirmer and Jacqueline Caputi

- 96. Upon information and belief, each of the individual County defendants played an affirmative role in the U.S. Constitutional deprivations asserted by the plaintiff herein.
- 97. Upon information and belief, defendant Dennis M. Brown was personally involved and is liable to the plaintiff under 42 U.S.C. §1983, because, upon information and belief, he directed and/or approved the implementation of the unconstitutional administrative procedure described herein, which apparently also included his approval to use his office to prepare the forms (Exhibits "A" and "B") which were uploaded onto the defendant County's website.
- 98. In the alternative, if this entire procedure was somehow created and implemented in hundreds of cases without his knowledge, and the forms to carry out such unconstitutional procedure were drafted by Assistant County Attorneys within his office without his knowledge, and they were then uploaded onto the County's website without his knowledge, and hundreds of vehicles were released at the direction of the Assistant County Attorneys under his supervision, while none of the owners of those vehicles were provided with notice or an opportunity to be heard, also without his knowledge, then he was grossly negligent in managing his subordinates who caused the unconstitutional deprivations described herein, and he is thus liable to the plaintiff, and those similarly situated, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983.

- 99. In similar vein, defendant Leonard Kapsalis who, upon information and belief is the supervisor who supervised and continues to supervise, defendants Drew Schirmer and Jacqueline Caputi in carrying out the administrative procedure described herein, similarly approved the unconstitutional deprivations described herein, and/or was grossly negligent in managing his subordinates who carried out such unconstitutional deprivations.
- 100. Concomitantly, defendant Leonard Kapsalis is liable to the plaintiff and those similarly situated pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983.
- 101. Defendant Drew Schirmer was personally involved in that he personally obtained the "determination" which directed the County to retain physical possession of the plaintiff's vehicle (*See* Exhibit "P" which bears defendant Schirmer's name).
- 102. Upon information and belief, in direct violation of that order, but under the County's administrative procedure (*See* Exhibits "A," "C," "D," "E," "F," "G," "H," "I," "J," "K," "L," "M" and "N"), defendants Drew Schirmer and/or Jacqueline Caputi thereafter communicated with defendant M&T Bank, negotiated the release of the plaintiff's vehicle to such third party, and directed, caused and/or permitted the release of the plaintiff's vehicle to M&T Bank, without defendants Caputi or Schirmer, or anyone else, having provided notice to the plaintiff, or affording her any opportunity to object to such release.
- 103. Thus, defendants Drew Schirmer and Jacqueline Caputi are individually liable to the plaintiff, and those similarly situated, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983.
- 104. Upon information and belief, defendants Caputi and Schirmer carried out these duties under the supervision of, and with the knowledge of, defendants Leonard Kapsalis and Dennis M. Brown.

- 105. Upon information and belief, each of the four individual County defendants: (a) are aware of the administrative procedure described herein, (b) are aware of the fact that the procedure is implemented, in part, through use of the County's website and use of the forms which have been uploaded to same, and (c) are affirmatively aware that the procedure they are carrying out violates the constitutional rights of the owners and lessees whose vehicles the defendants release to third parties without the respective owners' knowledge or consent.
- 106. No reasonable County Attorney or Assistant County Attorney could fail to understand that the practices they are carrying out are violating the rights of vehicle owners and lessees under existing law, given three indisputable facts.
- 107. First, the crystal clear rule of law pronounced by The United States Court of Appeals for The Second Circuit in <u>Alexandre v. Cortes</u> was handed down more than two decades ago and has thus been clearly established law for more than twenty (20) years.
- 108. Second, attorneys representing the largest automobile manufacturers, leasing companies and auto finance companies in the world, which included the attorneys for Nissan, Honda, Toyota, Infiniti, Lexus, Acura and Chrysler Capital (among others), have repeatedly advised the defendants, in writing, that their practices violate the rule of law laid bare in Alexandre (See, e.g. Exhibits "E" and "F").
- 109. Third, more than five (5) years ago, another vehicle owner whose vehicle was released to a third party by the defendants filed a federal lawsuit for the very same practices and procedures, but under the apparent direction of defendant Dennis M. Brown, the County decided to: (a) have the Office of the County Attorney defend that lawsuit while (b) simply continuing the patently unconstitutional practices which are the subject of the lawsuit. *See* Mateo v. County of Suffolk, U.S.D.C. E.D.N.Y. Docket No. 12-CV-6160.

- as a defense to liability for their actions, because the defendants disposed of the plaintiff's vehicle, and the vehicles of those similarly situated, entirely through an administrative process which is intended to avoid the need for litigation. As such, the individual acts of the defendants constituted administrative duties which were not undertaken as a prosecutor within the context of litigation, or in preparation therefor.
- 111. Simultaneously, the individual County defendants cannot avail themselves of qualified immunity as a defense to liability for their actions, because they knowingly and deliberately violated the plaintiff's clearly established rights of which any reasonable County Attorney or Assistant County Attorney would have known.
- 112. Finally, all of the aforementioned actions carried out by the County defendants were carried out under color of state law, within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. §1983.

VII. The Village of Westhampton Beach The Town of East Hampton The Village of Southampton

113. At all times described herein, the defendants Village of Westhampton Beach,
Town of East Hampton and the Village of Southampton (hereinafter referred to as "the municipal defendants") all played an affirmative role in carrying out the County of Suffolk's unconstitutional practices described herein.

- 114. Specifically, each of the municipal defendants have adopted and implemented systematic policies, practices and procedures wherein they seize vehicles, and then release those vehicles to the County of Suffolk, without the consent or authorization of the owners of such vehicles, and without affording owners, inclusive of the plaintiff and those who are similarly situated, with notice, a hearing, or any opportunity to object to the release of their respective vehicles to a third party.
- 115. Each of the municipal defendants each have police departments which operate as agencies thereof.
- 116. Upon information and belief, at all times described within the complaint, each of the municipal defendants' police departments seize motor vehicles while affirmatively claiming that Suffolk County Code Section 420 not only vests them with *the authority* to seize such vehicles but that such County Code provision *statutorily requires them to "seize all vehicles"* incident to any DWI arrest.
- 117. See Exhibit "O," that being the relevant pages of a Notice of Seizure and Hearing issued by the Westhampton Beach Police Department pertaining to the Village of Westhampton Beach's seizure of the plaintiff's motor vehicle, Exhibit "R," that being a virtually identical Notice of Seizure and Hearing issued by the Town of East Hampton Police Department, and Exhibit "S" that being a virtually identical Notice of Seizure and Hearing issued by the Village of Southampton Police Department, each of which cites Suffolk County Code Section 420 and states that "The law requires the seizure of all vehicles." See Exhibits "O," "R" and "S", first page, first and third paragraphs.

- 118. Acting under color of state law, each of these three municipal defendants systematically seize motor vehicles, and then release them directly to a third party, that being the County of Suffolk, without the owners' authorization, and without affording the owners with notice or any opportunity to object to the release of their vehicles to such third party.
- 119. By doing so, each of these municipal defendants have deprived the plaintiff, and those similarly situated of valuable property rights, in the ownership, possession, and use of their respective vehicles, without due process, in violation of rights guaranteed to them under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.
- 120. Consistent with such practices, on or about 12/23/2017, the Westhampton Beach Police Department, that being an agency of the Village of Westhampton Beach, seized the plaintiff's motor vehicle described herein. *See* Exhibit "O."
- 121. Thereafter, the defendant Village of Westhampton Beach released possession of the plaintiff's motor vehicle directly to a third party, that being the County of Suffolk, or an agency thereof, without the consent of, or permission from, the plaintiff.
- 122. At no time prior to such release of plaintiff's motor vehicle to such third party did the defendant Village of Westhampton Beach afford the plaintiff notice or any hearing at which to object to the Village's unauthorized release of plaintiff's motor vehicle to such third party.
- 123. In releasing the plaintiff's vehicle to a third party without the plaintiff's consent, and without having afforded the plaintiff with notice, a hearing, or any opportunity to be heard, the defendant Village of Westhampton Beach deprived the plaintiff of valuable property interests, in her right to own, possess and use her automobile, without due process of law, in violation of plaintiff's rights to due process guaranteed under the Fourteenth Amendment.

- 124. Despite the passage of more than twenty (20) years since the decision was rendered by the United States Court of Appeals For The Second Circuit in <u>Alexandre v. Cortes</u>, the municipal defendants have wholly failed to create any policy, practice or procedure for affording the owners of such vehicles, or lessees, with advance notice, or a procedure or hearing through which they are afforded an opportunity to object to the release of their respective vehicles to such third party, or to protect their interests in their respective vehicles.
- 125. In doing so, each of these municipal defendants deprived the plaintiff, and those similarly situated of valuable property rights without affording them Due Process, while acting under color of state law. Concomitantly, said municipal defendants are liable to the plaintiff, and those similarly situated, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983.

VIII. The Class Under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure

126. The plaintiff Andrea Maddox brings this action both on her own behalf and as a Class action pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

Class Prequisites Under Rule 23(a)

127. The members of the Class are all those persons whose motor vehicles were seized by the County of Suffolk and/or one of the other municipal defendants herein, which vehicles were then released by the defendants to third parties, within the period of three (3) years immediately preceding the filing of this complaint, without any of the defendants having afforded the members of the Class with notice or any procedure through which they were afforded an opportunity to object to such release of their respective motor vehicles.

128. As set forth below, Class action may be properly maintained herein because: (1) the Class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable, (2) there are questions of law and fact that are common to the Class, (3) the claims of the representative plaintiff are typical of the claims of the Class and (4) the representative party will fairly and adequately protect the Class.

A. The Size of the Class

- 129. While the defendant County, and the County alone, is in possession of the records which identify each and every member of the Class, it is estimated that the Class size is somewhere between 200 and 400 members.
- 130. Upon information and belief, and based upon the official police seizure notices annexed to the complaint as Exhibits "O," "S" and "T," each of the municipal defendants seize motor vehicles incident to every felony DWI arrest within which the arrestee has a prior misdemeanor vehicle-related offense.
- 131. The municipal defendants interpret Suffolk County Code Section 420 as statutorily requiring their respective police offices to seize all such vehicles. See Exhibit "O," "R" and "S" on page one, each of which states "The law requires the seizure of all vehicles or vessels, whether owned by the operator/driver or not."
- 132. As reflected within the records of The New York State Department of Criminal Justice System, there were 565 felony DWI arrests in Suffolk County in 2015, 488 in 2016 and 511 in 2017, which means for that three (3) year period, the cumulative number of felony arrests totaled 1,564. *See* a true copy of NYS DCJS records reflecting same annexed hereto as Exhibit "T."

- 133. Upon information and belief, statistically, of the motor vehicles which have been seized incident to DWI arrests on Long Island, thirty-two point four percent (32.4%) of such vehicles were financed, and sixteen point one percent (16.1%) of them were leased.
- 134. This means that, statistically, 48.5%, or roughly 758 vehicles out of the 1,564 vehicles seized within a three (3) year period in the County of Suffolk, involved lienholders or leasing companies who were then permitted to obtain the release of such vehicles through the administrative procedure described hereinabove.
- 135. As such, it is expected that the actual number of members in the Class is at least several hundred members, making the Class so numerous that actual joinder of all members is simply impracticable.

B. Common Questions of Law or Fact

- 136. All members of the Class have virtually identical questions of law and fact.
- 137. All members of the Class: (a) have had a motor vehicle which they owned or leased seized by one of the municipal defendants, or the County of Suffolk; (b) their respective vehicle was thereafter released to a third party by the municipal defendants and the County and (c) both the County and the municipal defendants failed to afford Class members with notice or a procedure or hearing through which they were afforded any opportunity to contest such release, or to protect their respective interests in their vehicle.
- 138. As a result, each member of the Class was deprived of property rights in their respective ownership, right to possess and/or right to use their respective automobile, as well as their statutory and contractual rights of redemption under their respective lease or finance agreement with third parties.

- 139. Each of them were similarly deprived of such property interests without due process of law, in violation of the protections guaranteed to them under the Fourteenth Amendment, and they suffered compensable monetary damages as a direct result of same.
 - C. Plaintiff Andrea Maddox' Claims are Typical of The Claims of The Class
- 140. As one of those vehicle owners whose vehicle was seized by one of the municipal defendants, who released it to the County defendants without her authorization, the latter of whom then released her vehicle to a third party without her authorization, and without having afforded her notice or an opportunity to be heard, the plaintiff's claims are virtually identical to those other vehicle owners who suffered the identical deprivations at the hands of these same defendants.
 - D. The Representative Plaintiff Will Fairly and Adequately Protect The Interests of The Class
- 141. In bringing this action, the plaintiff Andrea Maddox is acutely suited to adequately protect the interests of those who were injured by the defendants in precisely the same manner as they inflicted the virtually identical injuries to her.
- 142. She is acutely aware of the injuries which vehicle owners sustain as a result of the defendants' actions in not only depriving her of her motor vehicle, her right to own it, possess it, and use it, but also as a result of the County defendants having arbitrarily and unilaterally imposed an ex parte "lien" upon her vehicle, they have extracted thousands of dollars based upon such purported lien, and have induced a third party to enter a contractual agreement wherein the third party contracted and covenanted that it could never release her vehicle back to her.

- 143. To enforce her rights, the plaintiff has retained experienced civil rights and civil forfeiture counsel, who has handled more than five thousand (5,000) motor vehicle seizure cases, pertaining to vehicles which were seized incident to DWI arrests on Long Island.
- 144. Her counsel has litigated such matters both on behalf of a seizing municipality (in thousands of cases), as well as on behalf of the owners of seized vehicles (in hundreds of cases) against municipalities which have included The County of Suffolk, The County of Nassau and The City of New York.
- 145. Her counsel has also been prosecuting civil rights actions for over twenty-five (25) years and has successfully pursued actions under 42 U.S.C. §1983 against the defendant County of Suffolk in the United States District Court, Eastern District of New York, for civil rights deprivations which arose in connection with the County's seizure of motor vehicles.
- 146. As such, the plaintiff is capable of fairly and adequately protecting the interests of the members of the Class.

Type of Class Under Rule 23(b)(3)

- 147. Certification of the Class described herein is appropriate under Rule 23(b)(3) because the questions common to the Class *predominate* over questions which affect only individual Class members, those issues which are subject only to individualized proof.
- 148. The predominating issues identical to the claim of every Class member include, but are not limited to, the following:
- (a) the defendants wholly failed to adopt or implement any practice or procedure to afford the owners of seized vehicles with notice, or an opportunity to be heard, before the defendants release their vehicles to third parties without their authorization or consent;

- (b) the defendants *intentionally abstained from* adopting or implementing any practice or procedure to afford the owners of seized vehicles with notice, or an opportunity to be heard, before the defendants release their vehicles to third parties without their authorization or consent;
- (c) the policies, practices, and procedures which caused the constitutional deprivations described herein were implemented by, and/or were implemented under the direction of, the final decision-makers of the respective municipal and County defendants;
- (d) the municipal and County defendants failed to properly train and/or supervise their agents, and as a result of such failures, their agents failed to implement procedures to afford vehicle owners with notice and an opportunity to be heard before their vehicles were released to third parties without their authorization or consent.
- 149. Given the commonality of issues to every member of the Class, permitting this case to proceed as a Class action would achieve economies of time, effort and expense, and promote uniformity of decision as to persons similarly situated without sacrificing procedural fairness or bringing about other undesirable results.
- 150. Moreover, in most of the member's claims, the individual damages would be too small for individual lawsuits to be economically feasible.

CAUSES OF ACTION

COUNT ONE

Violation of Civil Rights Pursuant to title 42 U.S.C. §1983 (Procedural Due Process)

- 151. The plaintiff repeats and reiterates the allegations set forth within paragraphs "1" through "150" herein above, with the same force and effect as if fully set forth at length herein.
- 152. At all times described herein, the plaintiff possessed the clearly established property rights, under New York State Law, to purchase, own, possess, use and enjoy her motor vehicle.
- 153. At all times described herein, the plaintiff additionally possessed clearly established statutory and contractual rights of redemption under NY Personal Property Law §302, NY General Obligations Law §7-401, and pursuant to a written contractual agreement between the plaintiff and defendant M&T Bank. Such rights of redemption included her statutory and contractual rights to redeem her vehicle and to retake possession of her vehicle back from M&T Bank in the event that M&T Bank came into possession of her vehicle.
- 154. As described herein above, defendants The County of Suffolk, The Incorporated Village of Westhampton Beach, Dennis M. Brown, Leonard Kapsalis, Drew W. Schirmer, and Jacqueline Caputi acted under color of state law to deprive the plaintiff of her property rights in the ownership, use and possession of her motor vehicle without Due Process of law, by seizing her motor vehicle, and thereafter releasing it to one or more third parties without providing the plaintiff with any form of notice or hearing whereat the plaintiff could protect her interests.

- 155. Each of such defendants are individuals within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. §1983.
- 156. The defendant Incorporated Village of Westhampton Beach acted under color of state law to deprive the plaintiff of her property interests in her motor vehicle, by seizing her motor vehicle, and then releasing it to a third party, that being the County of Suffolk, without providing any form of advance notice or a hearing whereat the plaintiff could protect her interests or object to the release of her vehicle to such third party, before it was released to such third party.
- 157. The defendant Village of Westhampton Beach's actions in using state law to deprive the plaintiff of her property rights in the subject vehicle without notice of such deprivation and the opportunity for a hearing violates the Due Process requirement of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.
 - 158. The defendant Village of Westhampton Beach is liable to the plaintiff because:
- (a) said defendant has wholly failed to create, adopt or implement any policy, practice or procedure to afford vehicle owners with notice or an opportunity to be heard before the defendant releases their vehicles to third parties;
- (b) said defendant has, instead, implemented and maintained a policy, practice, and procedure of releasing seized cars to third parties without affording the owners with notice or an opportunity to be heard,
- (c) the release of said vehicles by the defendant without notice or an opportunity to be heard were not random or unauthorized acts, but were part of the policies, practices, and customs implemented by the defendant,
- (d) the policies, practices, and procedures complained of were authorized or permitted by the final decision-makers of the defendant; and

- (e) the defendant and its final decision-makers were wholly negligent in failing to properly train and/or supervise its employees and agents, and such negligence caused its agents and employees to cause the omissions and constitutionally defective practices to become implemented, which ultimately caused the constitutional injuries complained of by the plaintiff herein.
- 159. Defendants County of Suffolk, Dennis M. Brown, Leonard Kapsalis, Drew W. Schirmer, and Jacqueline Caputi acted under color of state law to deprive the plaintiff of her interests in her motor vehicle by:
- (a) assessing as much as \$6,000.00 in towing and storage fees against the plaintiff's vehicle, and imposing an *ex parte* "lien" for same against the plaintiff's vehicle, without have provided notice to the plaintiff or a hearing at which the plaintiff could protect her interests against such supposed "lien;"
- (b) releasing and/or causing the release of her vehicle to a third party without her consent, and without having afforded the plaintiff with notice, a hearing, or any opportunity to object to such release of her vehicle, or to protect her interests in same, and
- (c) forcing a lienholder to sign an agreement wherein the lienholder agreed to deprive the plaintiff of a contractual right of redemption, under which the plaintiff possessed a contractual right to reclaim possession of her vehicle from the lienholder in the event that she had defaulted under her finance agreement with such lienholders, and
- (d) forcing the lienholder to agree that, upon the County's release of the plaintiff's vehicle to the lienholder, the lienholder would never release it back to the plaintiff who owned it.

- 160. In effectuating the deprivation of the plaintiff's right to own, use, possess and enjoy her motor vehicle, and the deprivation of the plaintiff's contractual right to redeem any default under her finance agreement, the defendants violated the plaintiff's right to procedural due process as guaranteed under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, and the defendants are liable to the plaintiff pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983.
- 161. As a result of the aforesaid defendants' violations of plaintiff's procedural Due Process rights, the plaintiff has been damaged by having lost ownership, use and possession of her motor vehicle, as well as her statutory and contractual right to redeem and retake possession of her vehicle.
- 162. As a result of such Due Process violations, the plaintiff has sustained monetary damages in excess of \$100,000.00 and has suffered substantial and continuing injuries and damages to her personal credit rating with each of the three major credit rating companies thereby causing her to suffer continuing and increasing financial and other losses.
- 163. All of the injuries described herein above were actually and proximately caused by the acts of the defendants described herein, and the plaintiff is entitled to an award of monetary judgments against each of the defendants pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983, and an award for attorneys fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988.

COUNT TWO

DUE PROCESS CLAIMS UNDER THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE U.S. CONSTITUTION

(Substantive Due Process - 42 U.S.C. §1983)

- 164. The plaintiff repeats and reiterates the allegations set forth within paragraphs "1" through "163" herein above, with the same force and effect as if fully set forth at length herein.
- 165. At all relevant times described herein, the plaintiff was the lawful owner of the 2016 BMW motor vehicle described herein, which was financed pursuant to a written contractual agreement by and between the plaintiff and defendant M&T Bank.
- 166. At all times described herein, the plaintiff was vested of constitutionally protected property rights in the ownership, use, possession and enjoyment of her motor vehicle, as well as statutory and contractual rights to redeem any default under her finance agreement with defendant M&T Bank, which would have enabled her to reclaim possession of her automobile any time M&T Bank came into possession of same.
- 167. As detailed herein above, defendants County of Suffolk, Dennis M. Brown, Leonard Kapsalis, Drew W. Schirmer and Jacqueline Caputi arbitrarily, capriciously and deliberately deprived the plaintiff of such property rights, and engaged in a pattern of conduct which was oppressive in a constitutional sense, and should shock the judicial conscience, in violation of the plaintiff's rights to substantive due process, as guaranteed to the plaintiff under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

- 168. More specifically, the County defendants obtained, and caused to be obtained, a determination and order from a neutral magistrate under false pretenses (Exhibit "P"), which determination purportedly authorized the County to retain continuing possession of the plaintiff's motor vehicle, "pending resolution of a forfeiture proceeding," by disingenuously misleading the neutral magistrate who issued such order to believe that the County defendants intended to pursue such a forfeiture proceeding.
- 169. As was known to the County defendants at the time they obtained such determination and order, the defendants fully intended to avoid pursuit of any such civil forfeiture action, and to avoid any type of judicial proceeding within which the plaintiff could be afforded notice, an opportunity to be heard or an opportunity to defend and protect her rights in the motor vehicle at issue.
- 170. As was known by the County defendants, under the administrative procedure implemented by the individual County defendants, upon obtaining orders such as that annexed to the Complaint as Exhibit "P," after hearings before magistrates which culminate in the issuance of determinations in the form annexed as Exhibit "P," the defendants do not thereafter file forfeiture actions.
- 171. Instead, they attempt to identify and contact leasing companies and/or lienholders which possess an interest in a subject vehicle. They then unilaterally determine custody, and direct the release of seized vehicles, while avoiding judicial oversight and judicial intervention, as well as ensuring that vehicle owners receive no notice or opportunity to object to the disposition of their vehicle by the County defendants.

- 172. Consistent with same, after obtaining the order "directing" the County to retain the plaintiff's vehicle pending resolution of a forfeiture proceeding, the County defendants then communicated directly with defendant M&T Bank, and negotiated with M&T Bank to deprive the plaintiff of not merely her rights to notice and an opportunity to be heard, before the County could release her vehicle to M&T Bank, but also to deprive her of her right to own, use, possess and enjoy her motor vehicle, as well as her contractual right to redeem any default under her contract with M&T Bank, as well as her statutorily guaranteed right to redeem vested in her by the law of the State of New York, including NY Pers.P. Law §302 and NY Gen Oblig Law §7-401.
- 173. Exhibit "A" is the defendant County's "standard form agreement" known as "CA-4", for lienholders, which was drafted by the County defendants or under their supervision. CA-4 was uploaded onto the County's website, and has been, and remains, available for download from same.
- 174. At page 3, paragraph "8," of the agreement (Exhibit "A"), it explicitly provides that, in signing such agreement, the "lienholder" agrees that the buyer (*i.e. the owner of the vehicle*) will not be allowed to reinstate their installment contract, negotiate a new installment contract, or "regain possession of [their] vehicle from the lienholder."

- 175. This provision, which, upon information and belief, the County defendants required M&T Bank to sign before the County defendants released the plaintiff's vehicle to M&T Bank, required M&T Bank to act in direct violation of New York State laws, which not only statutorily vested the plaintiff with a right to redeem and retake possession of her vehicle from M&T Bank See NY Gen Oblig. Law §7-401, but also required M&T Bank's agreement with the plaintiff to explicitly provide that the plaintiff possesses that right to redeem. See NY Pers.P. Law §302.
- 176. Then, upon receiving the executed agreement from M&T Bank, the County defendants *deliberately abstained from* affording the plaintiff notice that they were going to release her vehicle directly to M&T Bank, and deliberately deprived her of any opportunity to be heard or to object to same, those being precise actions which the United States Court of Appeals for The Second Circuit had declared to be unconstitutional more than twenty (20) years earlier in Alexandre.
- 177. Given the fact that: (a) the ruling in <u>Alexandre v. Cortes</u> has been clearly established law for more than twenty (20) years, and (b) the attorneys for the largest automobile manufacturers in the world had explicitly advised the County defendants, in writing, that their practices were, in fact, violating the U.S. Constitutional rule of law laid bare in <u>Alexandre</u>, no reasonable County Attorney or Assistant County Attorney could have believed that they were not violating the due process rights of the plaintiff, and those similarly situated to the plaintiff.

- 178. As a result of the aforesaid defendants' violation of plaintiff's substantive due process rights, the plaintiff has been damaged by the loss of the ownership, use, possession and enjoyment of her automobile, and has suffered substantial financial and other damage by reason of severe and ongoing damage to her credit ratings, with defendant M&T Bank now repeatedly reporting to all three major credit agencies that the plaintiff is in default of her loan agreement for her having failed to pay defendant M&T Bank the full accelerated remaining principal amount of her loan, as well as the additional sum of \$6,000.00 which the County defendants had extracted from defendant M&T Bank for an *ex parte* "lien" which the County defendants had imposed upon the plaintiff's vehicle.
- 179. All of the injuries described herein above were actually and proximately caused by the concerted acts of the defendants described herein.
- 180. The aforesaid defendants' violation of plaintiff's due process rights were made under color of state law, which constitutes "state action" under 42 U.S.C. §1983, and accordingly, the plaintiff is entitled to an award of damages against the defendants for the injuries described herein.

COUNT THREE

Violation of Civil Rights Pursuant to title 42 U.S.C. §1983 (Procedural Due Process)

CLASS ACTION CLAIM

- 181. The plaintiff repeats and reiterates the allegations set forth within paragraphs "1" through "180" herein above, with the same force and effect as if fully set forth at length herein.
- 182. Plaintiff brings this Class action claim pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil

 Procedure 23, on behalf of herself and a specific Class of persons who are similarly situated.
- 183. Specifically, the Class consists of all persons who owned or leased motor vehicles that were seized by The County of Suffolk, The Incorporated Village of Westhampton Beach, The Town of East Hampton, The Incorporated Village of Southampton, or their respective police departments, and one or more of said defendants thereafter released the person's automobile to a third party, without first having afforded the respective owner or lessee, from whom the respective defendant had seized it, with notice or an opportunity to be heard - such Class being limited to those such individuals whose vehicles were released to a third party by one or more of the defendants within the finite period of three (3) years immediately preceding the filing of this complaint.
- 184. At all times described herein, members of the Class possessed clearly established property rights, under New York State Law, to purchase, own, lease, possess, use and enjoy motor vehicles, the right to object to invalid liens or other interests attaching to their respective vehicles.

- 185. At all times described herein, members of the Class additionally possessed clearly established statutory rights of redemption created and vested in them under New York State laws, which included statutory and contractual rights to redeem defaults under loan and/or lease agreements and to thereby reacquire possession of motor vehicles which fall into the possession of a leasing or finance company.
- Village of Westhampton Beach, Dennis M. Brown, Leonard Kapsalis, Drew W. Schirmer, and Jacqueline Caputi, The Town of East Hampton and The Village of Southampton acted under color of state law to deprive the plaintiff, and those similarly situated to the plaintiff, of the above described rights by seizing their motor vehicles, and thereafter releasing them to one or more third parties without providing the plaintiff or members of the Class with any form of notice or hearing whereat the plaintiff and the members of the Class could protect their interests, and inducing the third parties to whom such vehicles were released to execute agreements in the forms annexed to the complaint as Exhibits "A" and "B," and which contained the terms contained therein.
 - 187. Each of such defendants are individuals within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. §1983.
- 188. The defendant Incorporated Village of Westhampton Beach acted under color of state law to deprive the plaintiff of her property interests in her motor vehicle, by seizing her motor vehicle, and then releasing it to a third party, that being the County of Suffolk, without providing any form of advance notice or a hearing whereat the plaintiff could protect her interests or object to the release of her vehicle to such third party, before it was released to such third party.

- 189. The defendant Village of Westhampton Beach's actions in using state law to deprive the plaintiff of her property rights in the subject vehicle without notice of such deprivation and the opportunity for a hearing violates the Due Process requirement of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.
- 190. Defendants County of Suffolk, Dennis M. Brown, Leonard Kapsalis, Drew W. Schirmer, and Jacqueline Caputi acted under color of state law to deprive the plaintiff of her interests in her motor vehicle by:
- (a) assessing as much as \$6,000.00 in towing and storage fees against the plaintiff's vehicle, and imposing an *ex parte* "lien" for same against the plaintiff's vehicle, without have provided notice to the plaintiff or a hearing at which the plaintiff could protect her interests against such supposed "lien;"
- (b) releasing and/or causing the release of her vehicle to a third party without her consent, and without having afforded the plaintiff with notice, a hearing, or any opportunity to object to such release of her vehicle, or to protect her interests in same, and
- (c) forcing a lienholder to sign an agreement wherein the lienholder agreed to deprive the plaintiff of a contractual right of redemption, under which the plaintiff possessed a contractual right to reclaim possession of her vehicle from the lienholder in the event that she had defaulted under her finance agreement with such lienholders, and
- (d) forcing the lienholder to agree that, upon the County's release of the plaintiff's vehicle to the lienholder, the lienholder would never release it back to the plaintiff who owned it.

- 191. In effectuating the deprivation of the plaintiff's right to own, use, possess and enjoy her motor vehicle, and the deprivation of the plaintiff's contractual right to redeem any default under her finance agreement, the defendants violated the plaintiff's right to procedural due process as guaranteed under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, and the defendants are liable to the plaintiff pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
- 192. As a result of the aforesaid defendants' violations of plaintiff's procedural Due Process rights, the plaintiff has been damaged by having lost ownership, use and possession of her motor vehicle, as well as her contractual right to redeem her right to possess and own same.
- 193. As a result of such Due Process violations, the plaintiff has sustained monetary damages in excess of \$100,000.00 and has suffered substantial and ongoing damages to her personal credit rating with each of the three major credit rating companies thereby causing her to suffer continuing and increasing financial and other losses.
- 194. All of the injuries described herein above were actually and proximately caused by the acts of the defendants described herein, and the plaintiff is entitled to an award of monetary judgments against each of the defendants pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983, as well as an award for attorneys fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988.

COUNT FOUR

CONSPIRACY TO VIOLATE PLAINTIFF'S CIVIL RIGHTS

(Conspiracy Claim - 42 U.S.C. §1983)

- 195. The plaintiff repeats and reiterates the allegations set forth within paragraphs "1" through "194" herein above, with the same force and effect as if fully set forth at length herein.
- 196. As reflected within Exhibit "P," on February 22, 2018, a neutral magistrate which was appointed by the defendant County of Suffolk issued a directive, wherein the magistrate "directed" the defendant County of Suffolk to retain possession of the plaintiff's vehicle pending the County's commencement and resolution of a civil forfeiture proceeding.
- 197. The magistrate issued that directive by checking off a box upon a pre-typed typewritten form which had been created by and presented to the magistrate by, the County defendants herein.
- 198. As both indicated on such form, and as relied upon by the magistrate in rendering such directive, the County obtained such directive from the magistrate by indicating to the magistrate that the County intended to pursue a civil forfeiture proceeding against the plaintiff's vehicle in an appropriate court of law.
- 199. After having successfully obtained such directive as a basis for the County's authority to retain continuing possession of the plaintiff's vehicle, the County defendants thereafter conspired with defendant M&T Bank to deprive the plaintiff of her rights to own, use, possess and enjoy her automobile, as well as her contractual and statutory rights to redeem her vehicle, and to retake possession of same from M&T Bank, as guaranteed to her under New York Personal Property Law §302 and New York General Obligations Law §7-401.

- 200. Specifically, these conspiring defendants conspired to circumvent: (a) that magistrates directive, (b) any form of judicial proceeding and (c) the plaintiff's constitutional rights to notice and a hearing or procedure at which she could object to the County releasing her vehicle to defendant M&T Bank without her consent.
- 201. Upon information and belief, the conspiring defendants included defendants Drew Schirmer and Jacqueline Caputi, who carried out the defendant County's administrative procedure by determining the custody of, and directing the release of, seized vehicles to lienholders and leasing companies (*See e.g.* Exhibits "A," "B," "E," "F," "G," "H," "I," "J," "K," "L" and "P"), as well as defendants Dennis M. Brown and Leonard Kapsalis, who, upon information and belief, actively supervised, directed and approved these actions by their subordinates (defendants Drew Schirmer and Jacqueline Caputi), and defendant M&T Bank, all of whom are collectively referred to as "the conspiring defendants."
- 202. Upon information and belief, each of the conspiring defendants took affirmative action in furtherance of the conspiracy.
- 203. Upon information and belief, in furtherance of such conspiracy the County defendants and defendant M&T Bank communicated directly, and agreed that the plaintiff's vehicle would be, and was, released to MT&T Bank without the plaintiff's knowledge or consent, and without any of the defendants having provided the plaintiff with any notice of the defendants' intent to transfer possession of the plaintiff's automobile form the County directly to M&T Bank.

- 204. Upon information and belief, the conspiring defendants agreed to circumvent the plaintiff's rights, and that the County defendants would cause the County to release the plaintiff's vehicle directly to M&T Bank, under the following terms:
- (a) The conspiring defendants agreed that M&T Bank would download, complete and submit to the County defendants a completed County form CA-4 (Exhibit "A");
- (b) The conspiring defendants agreed that the County defendants would cause the vehicle to be released to M&T Bank if, and only if, M&T Bank contracted and covenanted with the County that upon M&T Bank's receipt of the plaintiff's vehicle from the County, M&T Bank, would not honor the plaintiff's contractual or statutory rights to redeem. More specifically, said defendants conspired and agreed that upon the County's release of the plaintiff's vehicle to M&T Bank, M&T Bank could not, and would not, (i) release the plaintiff's vehicle back to the plaintiff or any of her relatives or anyone residing with her, (ii) permit the plaintiff to "reinstate" her finance agreement with M&T Bank, nor (c) negotiate a new finance agreement with the plaintiff;
- (c) The conspiring defendants negotiated that M&T Bank would pay the County amount for "storage fees,"
- (d) Finally, the conspiring defendants agreed that if M&T Bank agreed to the terms described herein above, the County defendants would release the plaintiff's vehicle to M&T Bank, without notifying the plaintiff, or affording her any opportunity or procedure to object or oppose such transfer of possession of her vehicle.

- 205. In carrying out and completing such conspiracy, the conspiring defendants did, in fact, cause the County to release the plaintiff's vehicle to defendant M&T Bank, while depriving the plaintiff of notice or any procedure through which to object to such release of her vehicle, and additionally and deliberately deprived the plaintiff of her rights to own, use, possess and enjoy her vehicle, as well as her contractual and statutorily guaranteed rights of redemption and her right to retake possession of her vehicle from defendant M&T Bank.
- 206. In view of the forgoing, the plaintiff is entitled to secure redress and damages from each of the conspiring defendants pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983.

COUNT FIVE

BREACH OF CONTRACT

(State Law Claim)

- 207. The plaintiff repeats and reiterates the allegations set forth within paragraphs "1" through "206" herein above, with the same force and effect as if fully set forth at length herein.
- 208. Prior to December 23, 2017, the plaintiff entered a written contractual agreement with defendant M&T Bank, pursuant to which defendant M&T Bank agreed to provide the plaintiff financing for the purpose of the plaintiff's 2016 BMW/X3 motor vehicle.
- 209. As was required under NY Personal Property Law §302 and NY General Obligations Law §7-401, both plaintiff's contract with M&T Bank and New York State laws vested the plaintiff with a contractual right of redemption, which vested the plaintiff with the right to redeem and retake possession of her vehicle from M&T Bank in the event that M&T Bank took possession of the plaintiff's vehicle.

- 210. Under New York State law, the contract by and between the plaintiff and defendant M&T Bank included an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.
- 211. In breach of its contractual obligations to the plaintiff, some time between February 22, 2018 and March 30, 2018 (See Exhibits "P" and "Q"), defendant M&T Bank conspired to take possession, and did take possession, of the plaintiff's vehicle directly from the County of Suffolk in a manner which violated the plaintiff's U.S. Constitutional rights.
- 212. In further breach of its contractual obligations to the plaintiff, and in direct violation of New York State laws, defendant M&T Bank thereafter refused to honor plaintiff's right to redeem, and upon demand by the plaintiff to release her vehicle to her, defendant M&T Bank refused to release same, refused to accept a cure of any default on the part of the plaintiff, and explicitly advised plaintiff that M&T Bank could not honor her right to redeem because M&T Bank had contracted with the defendant County that it would never release her vehicle back to her.
- 213. In further breach of its contractual obligations to the plaintiff, and in breach of its covenant of good faith and fair dealing, while refusing to permit the plaintiff to redeem her vehicle, defendant M&T Bank unlawfully accelerated the entire remaining principal balance of her loan, added an additional \$6,000.00 to the amount demanded from the plaintiff without lawful basis, and thereafter repeatedly reported to all three major credit agencies, recurring monthly delinquent reports against the plaintiff's credit rating, thereby seriously damaging the plaintiff's credit rating on a continuing basis.

- 214. As a result of defendant M&T Bank's breaches of contract with the plaintiff, the plaintiff has sustained the loss of ownership of her vehicle, loss of use and possession of her vehicle, the loss of financial equity which she owned in her vehicle, and substantial monetary losses.
- 215. In view of the foregoing, the plaintiff is entitled to an award of damages in amounts equaling or exceeding \$100,000.00, and injunctive relief in the form of an order directing such defendant to send correcting notifications to the credit agencies to whom the defendant has sent delinquent notices concerning the plaintiff.
- 216. In addition, given the egregious manner within which said defendant deprived the plaintiff of clearly-established and statutorily guaranteed rights of which defendant M&T Bank was clearly aware, an award of punitive damages is warranted herein.

COUNT SIX

UNJUST ENRICHMENT

(State Law Claim)

CLASS ACTION CLAIM

- 217. The plaintiff repeats and reiterates the allegations set forth within paragraphs "1" through "216" herein above, with the same force and effect as if fully set forth at length herein.
- 218. As described herein, in creating, carrying out and maintaining the administrative procedure described herein, the County defendants unilaterally and arbitrarily decided to not only impose unreasonable and excessive "storage fees" upon seized vehicles, but also to "impose" an *ex parte* lien for such "fees" upon seized vehicles which came into the County's possession.

- 219. In doing so, as a condition precedent to releasing such vehicles to leasing companies and lienholders (albeit without the owner or lessee's consent), the County defendants required "satisfaction" of such ex parte imposed liens.
- 220. The County defendants successfully extracted large sums of money from such companies, in amounts as high as \$4,000.00 to \$6,000.00 for "storage fees" for a single vehicle.
- 221. These excessive and unlawfully extracted sums were more than twenty (20) times higher than what the adjacent County of Nassau charges for similar storage of seized vehicles in 2017, wherein Nassau County only charged a flat fee of \$300 for towing and storage combined, and in 2018, wherein Nassau County now charges a flat fee of \$400 for towing *and* storage combined.
- 222. Significantly, the County defendants unlawfully extracted these excessive sums in a manner that was intended to insure that the owners of those vehicles would be deprived of any opportunity to be made aware of any such lien or purported debt for "storage fees," much less any opportunity to challenge the excessive amounts which the County defendants arbitrarily demanded for such excessive storage fees.
- 223. Equally offensive is the fact that, once lienholders and leasing companies paid those excessive fees to the County defendants, the lienholders and leasing companies then extorted vehicle owners into paying those sums by advising that if the owners failed to do so, the lienholders would report the nonpayment of same as contract defaults to the three major credit agencies, thereby destroying the vehicle owners' credit ratings.

- 224. To the extent that lienholders and leasing companies have done so, (as has been done by defendant M&T Bank against the plaintiff), vehicle owners have been absolutely deprived of any opportunity, whatsoever, to object to the payment of these storage fees, or the amount thereof, and they have been utterly deprived of any proceeding or procedure through which they could have challenged same, before their credit ratings have been destroyed.
- 225. Upon information and belief, the amounts which the County defendants have extracted in such fashion while lacking any legal or judicial authority to do so, are believed to equal cumulative amounts well in excess of one million (\$1,000,000.00) dollars.
- 226. Under the circumstances described herein, the defendant County of Suffolk has received such monies, as a pure windfall, and has been unjustly enriched by the receipt of such monies, to the detriment of the plaintiff and those who are similarly situated.
- 227. In view of the forgoing, it would be wholly unjust to permit the defendant County to remain unjustly enriched by the unlawful fees it extracted and received, and the plaintiffs should be awarded a monetary judgment against the County in such amounts, to collect such amounts and to distribute them between the plaintiff members to whose detriment those monies have been paid.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the plaintiff prays for relief and requests that the Court render judgment as follows:

COUNT ONE

Procedural Due Process Claim - 42 U.S.C. §1983

- (a) Awarding the plaintiff compensatory damages, and a monetary judgment against the defendants The County of Suffolk, The Incorporated Village of Westhampton Beach, Dennis M. Brown, Leonard Kapsalis, Drew W. Shirmer and Jacqueline Caputi, jointly and severally, in the amount of \$100,000.00, or in such other amounts proven at the trial of this action, together with pre-judgment and post-judgment interest; and
- (b) Awarding the plaintiff punitive damages, and a monetary judgment against the defendants Dennis M. Brown, Leonard Kapsalis, Drew W. Shirmer and Jacqueline Caputi, jointly and severally, in the amount of three million (\$3,000,000.00) dollars, or in such other amounts determined by the trier of fact at the trial of this action; and
- (c) Awarding the plaintiff reasonable attorneys fees and costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988(b); and
- (d) Awarding the plaintiff reimbursement for any and all expert fees incurred by the plaintiff, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988(c); and
- (e) Awarding the plaintiff such other and further relief as this court may deem just and proper.

COUNT TWO

Substantive Due Process Claim - 42 U.S.C §1983

- (a) Awarding the plaintiff compensatory damages, and a monetary judgment against the defendants The County of Suffolk, The Incorporated Village of Westhampton Beach, Dennis M. Brown, Leonard Kapsalis, Drew W. Shirmer and Jacqueline Caputi, jointly and severally, in the amount of \$100,000.00, or in such other amounts proven at the trial of this action, together with pre-judgment and post-judgment interest; and
- (b) Awarding the plaintiff punitive damages, and a monetary judgment against the defendants Dennis M. Brown, Leonard Kapsalis, Drew W. Shirmer and Jacqueline Caputi, jointly and severally, in the amount of three million (\$3,000,000.00) dollars, or in such other amounts determined by the trier of fact at the trial of this action; and
- (c) Awarding the plaintiff reasonable attorneys fees and costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988(b); and
- (d) Awarding the plaintiff reimbursement for any and all expert fees incurred by the plaintiff, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988(c); and
- (e) Awarding the plaintiff such other and further relief as this court may deem just and proper.

COUNT THREE

Procedural Due Process Claim - 42 U.S.C. §1983

CLASS ACTION CLAIM

- (a) Declaring this action to be a proper Class action pursuant to Rules 23(a) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the Class defined herein, and
- (b) Declaring and determining that the defendants violated the Class members' U.S. Constitutional rights, and deprived them of their property rights without due process of law, and
- (c) Granting an Order permanently enjoining the defendants from hereafter releasing seized vehicles to third parties without affording vehicle owners with notice and a procedure through which to challenge such releases before they occur, and
- (d) Awarding the plaintiff and the Class compensatory damages, and a judgment against all of the defendants, jointly and severally, and
- (e) Awarding the plaintiff and the Class pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, and
- (f) Awarding the plaintiff and the Class reasonable attorneys fees and costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988(b); and
- (g) Awarding the plaintiff and the Class reimbursement for any and all expert fees incurred by the plaintiff, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988(c); and
- (h) Awarding the plaintiff such other and further relief as this court may deem just and proper.

COUNT FOUR

Conspiracy Claim - 42 U.S.C. §1983

- (a) Awarding the plaintiff compensatory damages, and a monetary judgment against the defendants The County of Suffolk, The Incorporated Village of Westhampton Beach, Dennis M. Brown, Leonard Kapsalis, Drew W. Shirmer and Jacqueline Caputi and M&T Bank, jointly and severally, in the amount of \$100,000.00, or in such other amounts proven at the trial of this action, together with pre-judgment and post-judgment interest; and
- (b) Awarding the plaintiff punitive damages, and a monetary judgment against the defendants Dennis M. Brown, Leonard Kapsalis, Drew W. Shirmer and Jacqueline Caputi and M&T Bank, jointly and severally, in the amount of three million (\$3,000,000.00) dollars, or in such other amounts awarded at the trial of this action; and
- (c) Awarding the plaintiff reimbursement for reasonable attorneys fees and costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988(b); and
- (d) Awarding the plaintiff reimbursement for any and all expert fees incurred by the plaintiff, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988(c); and
- (e) Awarding the plaintiff such other and further relief as this court may deem just and proper.

COUNT FIVE

Breach of Contract

(State Law Claim)

- (a) Declaring that defendant M&T Bank breached its contractual obligations to the plaintiff, and violated New York State Laws, and
- (b) Declaring that defendant M&T Bank is not entitled to receive or recover any monies from or against the plaintiff, and
- (c) Awarding the plaintiff compensatory damages, and a monetary judgment against the defendant M&T Bank, in the amount of \$300,000.00, or in such other amounts proven at the trial of this action, together with pre-judgment and post-judgment interest; and
- (d) Awarding the plaintiff punitive damages, and a monetary judgment against the defendant M&T Bank, in the amount of three million (\$3,000,000.00) dollars, or in such other amounts awarded at the trial of this action; and
- (e) Affirmative injunctive relief, in the form of an Order, directing defendant M&T Bank to report to any credit agencies to whom it previously reported that the plaintiff was in default or defaults upon its loan repayment obligations to defendant M&T Bank, that the plaintiff was, in fact, not in default of same,
- (f) Awarding the plaintiff reasonable attorneys fees and costs, together with any additional and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

COUNT SIX

Unjust Enrichment (State Law Claim)

CLASS ACTION CLAIM

- (a) Declaring this action to be a proper Class action pursuant to Rules 23(a) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the Class defined herein, and
- (b) Declaring and determining that the defendants violated the Class members' U.S. Constitutional rights, and deprived them of their property rights without due process of law, and
- (c) Awarding the plaintiff and the Class a judgment against the defendant County of Suffolk, equal to the amount of storage charges which the County collected from lienholders, leasing companies or any other parties (other than the owners or leases of such vehicles), before releasing seized vehicles to such third parties, within a period of three (3) years immediately preceding the commencement of this action,
- (d) Awarding the plaintiff and the Class reasonable attorneys fees and costs, together with any additional and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

Dated: Merrick, New York September 20, 2018

Yours etc.,

Campanelli & Associates, P.C.

Andrew J. Campanelli

Attorneys for Plaintiff(s)

1757 Merrick Avenue, Suite 204

Merrick, New York 11566

(516) 746-1600

EXHIBIT A

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK COUNTY OF SUFFOLK
DENNIS M. BROWN, County Attorney for the COUNTY OF SUFFOLK,
Plaintiff/Claiming Authority,
AFFIDAVIT OF DEFAULT -against-
a YEAR and MAKE, VIN No. VIN NUMBER,
BUYER and CO-BUYER, and
<u>LIEN HOLDER</u>
Defendant(s),
STATE OF STATE
COUNTY OF COUNTY) ss.:
AUTHORIZED AGENT , being duly sworn, deposes and says:
1. I am a TITLE OF AGENT (title) for the defendant,
LIEN HOLDER duly authorized to do business in the State of New York.
LIEN HOLDER maintains a place of business at
ADDRESS . I am familiar with the facts and
circumstances set forth based upon my review of the books and records maintained by LIEN HOLDER that relate to this proceeding.
2. I submit this affidavit in support of LIEN HOLDER 'S application for
2. I submit this affidavit in support of LIEN HOLDER 'S application for possession of a YEAR and MAKE, Vehicle Identification Number VIN NUMBER
(the "Vehicle").
3. On CONTRACT DATE, BUYER and CO-BUYER (the "Buyer(s)")
executed a Retail Installment Contract (the "Contract") to finance the purchase of the Vehicle. A
copy of the Contract is attached hereto.
VIN NUMBER LIEN HOLDER Page 1 of 6

Page 1 of 6

CA-4

4. The Contract was assigned to LIEN HOLDER for value and before
maturity. The Contract granted LIEN HOLDER a security interest in the Vehicle, which
security interest was duly perfected.
5. The Buyer (s) failed to make his/her/their monthly installment payment due for
PAYMENT DUE DATE and each month thereafter, which failure is a default under the Contract. In
addition, the Vehicle's seizure by the County of Suffolk on ARREST, in connection with the
arrest of was a default under the Contract found under paragraph
PARAGRAPH LETTER/#. On that same date of the Vehicle's seizure by the County, under
the Contract the Buyer(s) owed to the Lienholder an outstanding balance of
\$_DOLLAR VALUE OUTSTANDING. See attached statement of what is owed to the
Lienholder.
6. By reason of said default(s), and pursuant to the New York State Uniform Commercial Code
§ 9-609 (formerly § 9-503) and New York State Vehicle and Traffic Law § 425
LIEN HOLDER is asserting its superior right to possession of the Vehicle as against
the subordinate possessory interest of the Buyer(s). Accordingly,
LIEN HOLDER is entitled to recover possession of its Vehicle as against the
Buyer(s).
7. LIEN HOLDER respectfully requests that it be permitted to effect an
immediate repossession of the Vehicle.

LIEN HOLDER

Page 2 of 6

VIN NUMBER

CA-4

8. LIEN HOLDER agrees that the Buyer(s), nor any of his/her/their relatives or
persons residing with him/her/them, are entitled to, nor will they be allowed to, reinstate the installment
contract, negotiate a new installment contract for this Vehicle or regain possession of this Vehicle from
LIEN HOLDER unless a Court having proper jurisdiction otherwise orders.
9. LIEN HOLDER agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the County of
Suffolk from any and all claims which may have been made or may be made in the future by
the Buyer(s), that the County of Suffolk acted improperly
in permitting LIEN HOLDER to recover the Vehicle from the County of
Suffolk.
10. All right, title and possessory interest in the Vehicle, presently held by the Suffolk
County Attorney's Office under the authority of Suffolk County Code Article II of Chapter 420;
Article III of Chapter 818; Article IV of Chapter 818 and/or Article VI of Chapter 818 and Article
13-A of the N.Y.C.P.L.R. will be granted to LIEN HOLDER upon payment of
all applicable towing and storage fees due to the impound facility of the seizing agency for each day
from the date of seizure until the date of release,
11. LIEN HOLDER will notify and pay the County of Suffolk within thirty days
of the sale of the subject vehicle any and all surplus proceeds from the sale of the Vehicle
remaining after satisfaction of LIEN HOLDER 'S lien.

2. Nothing contained herein shall effect o	r impair the rights, duties and obligations
3. Attached please find a copy of both	: :
i) the Retail Installment Contract, as	s per paragraph 3 above; and
ii) a billing statement showing what w	was owed to the Lienholder and outstanding
on the date of the Vehicle's seizur	e, as per paragraph 5 above.
Dated: County,	
, 20	
	·
	Signature:
	Print Name:
	Print Title:
STATE OF, COUNTY OF	; ss;
On this day of, 20, t	pefore me, the undersigned,
, persona	ally appeared, personally known to me or proved to me on the
basis of satisfactory evidence to be the individual acknowledged to me that he/she executed the same	whose name is subscribed to the within instrument and ne in his/her capacity, and that by his/her signature on the half of which the individual acted, executed the instrument.
	NOTARY PUBLIC

RELEASE

TO ALL TO WHOM THESE PRESENTS SHALL COME OR MAY CONCERN, KNOW THAT, duly authorized to do business in the State of New York, with offices located at In consideration of the receipt of a , Vehicle Identification Number VIN NUMBER (the "Vehicle"), from the COUNTY OF SUFFOLK, as RELEASEE: LIEN HOLDER ___, as RELEASOR, hereby releases and discharges the RELEASEE, RELEASEE'S agents, servants, employees, heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns from all actions, causes of action, suits, debts, dues, sums of money, accounts, reckonings, bonds, bills, specialties, covenants, contracts, controversies, agreements, promises, variances, trespasses, damages, judgments, extends, executions, claims, and demands whatsoever, in law, admiralty or equity, which against the RELEASEE, the RELEASOR, the RELEASOR'S heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns ever had, now have or hereafter can, shall or may, have for, upon, or reason of any matter, cause or thing whatsoever from the beginning of the world to the day of the date of this RELEASE, with regard to the release of the Vehicle to L and the condition of the Vehicle as of the date and time of the Vehicle's seizure, and further agrees: RELEASOR further represents that it will indemnify and hold harmless the RELEASEE from any and all actions, causes of action, suits, sums of money, accounts, controversies, agreements, promises, damages, judgments, extents, executions, claims, and demands whatsoever, in law or equity, which the owner of the vehicle may bring against the RELEASEE, its successors and assigns, limited and restricted solely to an indemnity for all claims which were raised, or can be raised in the future, concerning a claim that the RELEASEE should not have turned possession of the vehicle and the property contained therein over to the RELEASOR, and any and all claims against any personnel and/or official of the RELEASEE acting within the scope of their employment they should not have turned possession of the vehicle and the property contained

therein over to the RELEASOR.

	nction and this RELEASE at the the RELEASE or RE		ce of nor an admission of any
changed orally.	by the RELEASEE of RE	LLASOK. III	is Release may not be
In Witness Whereof, the		RELEASE to	be executed on the day of
		LIEN	HOLDER
		Signature:	
		Print Name	•
		Print Title:_	
STATE OF	, COUNTY OF _	·	: ss:
On this day of		, 20, bef	ore me, the undersigned,
the basis of satisfactory instrument and acknowl	evidence to be the individual edged to me that he/she ex instrument, the individual	ual whose nan	own to me or proved to me on ne is subscribed to the within ne in his/her capacity, and that by upon behalf of which the
		·	NOTARY PUBLIC

EXHIBIT B

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK COUNTY OF SUFFOLK		
DENNIS M. BROWN, County Attorney	<u> </u>	
for the COUNTY OF SUFFOLK,		
Plaintiff/Claiming Authority,	AFFIDAVIT OF DEFAULT	
-against-		
a, VIN No. VIN NUMBER ,		
a, VIN No, and		
LIEN HOLDER ,		
Defendant(s),		
STATE OF STATE		
COLDIENT) cc.		
COUNTY OF COUNTY SS.:		
AUTHORIZED AGENT		
, being duly sworn, do	eposes and says:	
1. I am a TITLE OF AGEN	(title) for the defendant,	
LIEN HOLDER duly authorized to do	business in the State of New York.	
LIEN HOLDER	o cusiness in the state of frew fork.	
maintains a	place of business at	
ADDRESS	I am familiar with the facts and	
giroumgtoness set forth heard areas are serious of the		
circumstances set forth based upon my review of the	ne books and records maintained by	
LIEN HOLDER that relate to this process	eding.	
	LIEN HOLDER ,	
2. I submit this affidavit in support of	51	
application for possession of a YEAR and MAK		
VIN NUMBER (the "Vehicle").		
•		
3. On <u>LEASE DATE</u> , <u>LESSEE</u> as	nd CO-LESSEE (the "Lessee(s)")	
executed a Motor Vehicle Lease Agreement (the "Lease	e") to lease the vehicle. A copy of the	
Lease is attached hereto.		
CA-5 VIN NUMBER LIEN HO	DLDER Bear 1 of 5	
	Page 1 of 5	

4. The Lease was assigned to LIEN HOLDER for value and before
maturity. The Lease provides that LIEN HOLDER is the owner of the Vehicle,
as is reflected in the records of the New York State Department of Motor Vehicles.
5. The Lessee(s) failed to make his/her/their monthly lease payment due for PAYMENT DUE DATE
and each month thereafter, which failure is a default under the Lease. In
addition, the Vehicle's seizure by the County of Suffolk on, in connection with
the arrest of was a default under the Lease.
6. By reason of said defaults, and pursuant to the New York State Uniform
Commercial Code § 9-609 (formerly § 9-503) and New York State Vehicle and Traffic Law §
425, LIEN HOLDER is asserting its superior right of possession to the Vehicle
as against the subordinate possessory interest of the Lessee(s). Accordingly, LIEN HOLDER is entitled to recover possession of its Vehicle as against the
Lessee(s).
7. LIEN HOLDER respectfully requests that it be permitted to
effect an immediate repossession of the Vehicle.
8. LIEN HOLDER agrees that Lessee(s), nor any of his/her/their
relatives or persons residing with him/her/them, are entitled to, nor will they be allowed to,
reinstate the Lease, negotiate a new installment contract or lease for this Vehicle with LIEN HOLDER
or regain possession of this Vehicle from LIEN HOLDER unless a Court having proper jurisdiction otherwise orders.
9. LIEN HOLDER agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the
County of Suffolk from any and all claims which may have been made or may be made in the

future by the Lessee(s), any claim that the Cour	nty of Suffolk acted improperly in permitting
LIEN HOLDER to recover the V	ehicle from the County of Suffolk.
10. All right, title and possessory interest	est in the Vehicle, presently held by the Suffolk
County Attorney's Office under the authority of S	suffolk County Code Article II of Chapter 420;
Article III of Chapter 818; Article IV of Chapter	
Article 13-A of the N.Y.C.P.L.R. will be grant	ted to upon
payment of all applicable towing and storage fe	es due to the impound facility of the seizing
agency for each day from the date of seizure until	
LIEN HOLDER v	will notify the County of Suffolk within thirty
days of the sale of the subject vehicle of any a	
Vehicle remaining after satisfaction of LIEN F	HOLDER 'S outstanding balance
12. Nothing contained herein shall effective shall effective to the state of the st	ect or impair the rights, duties and obligations
under the Lease as and between LIEN HOL	DER and the Lessee(s).
Dated: County,	•
, 20	LIEN HOLDER
By:	
	AUTHORIZED AGENT NAME, SIGN ABOVE
STATE OF, COUNTY OF	: ss:
On this day of, personally appeared, p	, 20, before me, the undersigned,
basis of satisfactory evidence to be the individinstrument and acknowledged to me that he/she eby his/her signature on the instrument, the individual acted, executed the instrument.	ual whose name is subscribed to the within executed the same in his/her capacity, and that
	NOTARY PUBLIC
VIN NUMBER LIE	EN HOLDER

RELEASE

TO AL	L TO WHO	M THESE P	RESENTS S	HALL COM	IE OR MAY (CONCERN,	
	KNOW THA	AT, LIEN	HOLDE	R, c	luly authorized	to do business	in the
State ADI	of DRESS	New	York,	with	offices	located	at
	In considerat	T D				dentification N	
	LIEN HO					s and discharg	
RELEA	SEE, RELE	EASEE'S age	ents, servants	s, employees	, heirs, execu	ıtors, administ	rators,
success	ors and assig	gns from all	actions, cause	es of action,	suits, debts, d	ues, sums of n	noney,
account	s, reckonings	s, bonds, bill	s, specialties,	covenants, c	contracts, contr	oversies, agree	ments,
promise	es, variances,	trespasses, d	amages, judg	ments, extend	ds, executions,	claims, and de	mands
whatso	ever, in law,	admiralty or	equity, which	h against the	RELEASEE,	the RELEASO	R, the
RELEA	SOR'S heirs	, executors, a	administrators	, successors	and assigns ev	ver had, now h	ave or
hereafte	er can, shall o	or may, have	for, upon, or	reason of an	y matter, caus	e or thing what	soever
			to the day of HOLDE	R		E, with regard	
			seizure, and fi	-			further
			-			n any and all a	
causes	of action, suit	s, sums of m	oney, account	ts, controvers	ies, agreement	s, promises, dar	nages,
judgme	nts, extents,	executions, c	laims, and de	emands whats	soever, in law	or equity, whi	ch the
owner (of the vehicle	may bring a	gainst the RE	LEASEE, its	successors and	d assigns, limite	ed and
restricte	ed solely to a	n indemnity f	for all claims	which were r	aised, or can b	e raised in the	future,

concerning a claim that the RELEASEE should not have turned possession of the vehicle and the property contained therein over to the RELEASOR, and any and all claims against any personnel and/or official of the RELEASEE acting within the scope of their employment they should not have turned possession of the vehicle and the property contained therein over to the RELEASOR.

The disposition of this action and this RELEASE are not evidence of nor an admission of any wrongdoing whatsoever by the RELEASEE or RELEASOR. This RELEASE may not be changed orally. In Witness Whereof, the RELEASOR caused this RELEASE to be executed on the _____ day of ______, 20 LIEN HOLDER By: AUTHORIZED AGENT NAME, SIGN ABOVE STATE OF ______; COUNTY OF _____: ss: On this day ___ of ____ _____, 20___, before me, the undersigned, ____, personally appeared, personally known to me or proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the individual whose name is subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she executed the same in his/her capacity, and that by his/her signature on the instrument, the individual, or the person upon behalf of which the individual acted, executed the instrument.

VIN NUMBER LIEN HOLDER

NOTARY PUBLIC

EXHIBIT C

COUNTY OF SUFFOLK



STEVEN BELLONE SUFFOLK COUNTY EXECUTIVE

DENNIS M. BROWN COUNTY ATTORNEY

DEPARTMENT OF LAW

December 7, 2016

TD AUTO FINANCE LLC P.O. Box 997551 Sacramento, CA 95899

Re: County of Suffolk v. Victor R. Rodowicz and TD Auto Finance LLC 2011 CADILLAC, VIN NO.1G6DE5EY4B0118105

To whom it may concern:

The above listed vehicle was seized by Southampton Village Police Department on August 30, 2016 for a criminal offense. The title owner, Victor R. Rodowicz, is deceased and the vehicle is retained at the Westhampton Impound Pacility in Westhampton, New York.

TD Auto Finance LLC is listed as the current lienholder for this vehicle. If you are the current lienholder and you wish to retrieve the vehicle papers must be submitted from our website:

http://www.suffolkcountyny.gov/Departments/CountyAttorney/VehicleStrizure.aspx

Once these documents are submitted we will release the vehicle.

If you have any questions please contact our office at 631.853.5668.

Very truly yours,

Dennis M. Brown

Suffolk County Attorney

Drew Schirmer

Assistant County Attorney

Enc.

EXHIBIT D

02/26/2016 14:21

6318535306

SC DEPT OF LAW

PAGE 02/02

COUNTY OF SUFFOLK



STEVEN BELLONE SUFFOLK COUNTY EXECUTIVE

DENNIS M. BROWN COUNTY ATTORNEY

DEPARTMENT OF LAW

February 26, 2016

Law Offices of Rudolph J. Meola 1822 Western Avenue Albany, NY 12203 Fax: 518.713.2032

Re: County of Suffolk v Mary Nolie and Santander Consumer USA, Inc.

CC# 15-0737939

Dear Mr. Meola:

With regards to your letter dated February 22, 2016 thank you for forwarding this information.

As stated in our response on February 10, 2016 to your initial letter dated February 9, 2016, please go on our website, www.suffolkcountyny.gov, and submit necessary Affidavit of Default and General Release forms along with a copy of the Retail Installment contract so that your client may pick up the vehicle.

If you have any further questions please call 631.853.5668.

Very truly yours,

Dennis M. Brown Suffolk County Attorney

Steve Fiore-Rosenfeld Assistant County Attorney

LOCATION H. LEE DENNISON BLDG, 100 VETERANS MEMORIAL HIGHWAY

MAILING ADDRESS P.O. BOX 6100 HAUPPAUGE, NY 11788-0099

(631) 853-4049 TELECOPIER (631) 853-5169

EXHIBIT E

LAW OFFICES OF RUDOLPH J. MEOLA

1822 WESTERN AVE . ALBANY, NY 12203 TEL. (518) 713-2030 · FAX (518) 713-2032

November 30, 2015

Jacqueline Caputi Assistant County Attorney Suffolk County Attorney's Office 100 Vcterans Memorial Highway P.O. Box 6100 Hauppauge, NY 11788

Telefax & Mail: 631-853-530

RE: CC#: 15-507953

Lienholder: American Honda Fixance Corp.

Vehicle: 2014 Honds Accord

VIN: IHGCT2B81EA005717

Registered Owner/Titled Owner/Operator: Nicholas M. Bedell

Dear Ms. Caputi:

This Firm represents the above-referenced lienholder who has requested release of the vehicle. In response, the County advised that the lienholder may recover the vehicle by providing an affidavit of default. This process raises a serious legal issue that I want to bring to your attention.

In the case of Alexandre v Cortes, 140 F3d 406 (2nd Cir. 1998) the Court held that a governmental agency violates Due Process by releasing a seized vehicle to a lienholder based upon the lienholder's statement of default where no hearing has been held before a neutral decision maker. This case is binding authority within the Second Circuit which obviously includes Suffolk County. The Court held that a person who is dispossessed of a vehicle by such a process has a viable claim for damages under 42 USC 1983.

The New York City Police Department handles these cases by releasing a vehicle to a lienholder only after the lienholder obtains a court order after notice to the titled owner determining that the lienholder is the proper party to title. This process satisfies Due Process and seems to work well.

Please let me know your thoughts and what my client must do to recover this car.

Attorney

Very tracty

12/2/15

L'enholder may file documents on our we toute to reteriere

He vehicle

suffolk country 9 or

EXHIBIT F

12/02/2015 10:52 6318535306

SC DEPT OF LAW

PAGE 01/01

MEOLA LAW FIRM Nov. 30. 2015 2:19PM

No. 5447

Law Offices of Rudolph J. Meola

1822 WESTERN AVE . ALBANY, NY 12203 TEL (518) 713-2030 • FAX (518) 713-2032 •

November 30, 2015

Jacqueline Caputi Assistant County Attorney Suffolk County Attorney's Office 100 Veterans Memorial Highway P.O. Box 6100 Hauppauge, NY 11788

Telefax & Mail: 6314153

CC#: 15-451931 RE:

Lienholder: TD Auto Finance LLC

Vehicle: 2012 Dodge Ram

VIN: 1C6RD7GP5CS102805

Registered Owner/Titled Owner/Operator: Gregory W. Williams

Dear Ms. Caputi:

This Firm represents the above-referenced Henholder who has requested telease of the vehicle. In response, the County advised that the lienholder may recover the vehicle by providing an affidavit of default. This process raises a serious legal issue that I want to bring to your attention.

In the case of Alexandre v Cortes, 140 F3d 406 (2nd Cir. 1998) the Court held that a governmental agency violates Due Process by releasing a seized vehicle to a lienholder based upon the lienholder's statement of default where no hearing has been held before a neutral decision maker. This case is binding authority within the Second Circuit which obviously includes Suffolk County. The Court held that a person who is d upossessed of a vehicle by such a process has a viable claim for damages under 42 USC 1983.

The New York City Police Department handles these cases by releasing a vehicle to a lienholder only after the lienholder obtains a court order after notice to he titled owner determining that the lienholder is the proper party to title. This process satisfies Due Process and seems to work well.

Please let me know your thoughts and what my client must do to recover this car.

12/2/15

Owner is in default. Learholder, may file down its on our ivebrite to retrieve this rehide

suffolkcountying.gov.

EXHIBIT G

02/24/2016 13:22

6318535306

SC DEPT OF LAW

PAGE 01/01

LAW OFFICES OF RUDOLPH J. MEOLA

1822 WESTERN AVE • ALBANY, NY 12203 Tel. (518) 713-2030 • FAX (518) 713-2032

February 18, 2016

Jacqueline Caputi
Assistant County Attorney
Suffolk County Attorney's Office
100 Veterans Memorial Highway
P.O. Box 6100
Hauppauge, NY 11788

Telefax & Mail: 631-853-5306

RE:

CC#: 16-0088186

Vehicle: 2014 Acura TL

Titled Owner: HVI Inc. VIN: 19UUA8F55EA009019

Registered Owner & Operator: Sean D. Colucci

Dear Ms. Caputi:

This Firm represents the above-referenced titled owner concerning its duly perfected security interest in the vehicle selzed by Suffolk County under the case number and names above. (Copy of title enclosed)

My client would like to recover the vehicle quickly, before the vehicle uses value due to depreciation or assessment of charges. Please consider the date of this letter as the date of the titled owner's formal request for purposes of fixing any storage the chargeable to the titled owner.

I would appreciate it if you would send me a settlement proposal with a specific dollar amount of storage fixed as of the date of this letter.

Please advise as to the County's position on this request.

Rudelin J. Meola

Very tody your

Attorney

Enc.

Cc: HVT Inc.

Please Submit papers from our insebsite se use

www.suffo.kcountyny.gov

700rs cruices Yvehicle seizu

7 Form CAH

EXHIBIT H

02/10/2016 11:14 6318535306 Feb. 9. 2016 2:19PM MEOLA LAW FIRM

SC DEPT OF LAW

PAGE 01/02

No. 5817 P. 1

Law Offices of Rudolph J. Meola

1822 WESTERN AVE . ALBANY, NY 12203 Tel, (518) 713-2030 • Fax (518) 713-2032

February 9, 2016

Jacqueline Caputi Assistant County Attorney Suffolk County Attorney's Office 100 Veterans Memorial Highway P.O. Box 6100 Hauppauge, NY 11788

Telefax & Mail: 631-853-5306

RE: CC#: 15-0737939

Lienholder: Santander Consumer IJSA, Inc.

Vehicle: 2014 Honda CR-V

VIN: 5J6RM4H74EL03907#

Titled and Registered Owner: Mary Nolle

Operator: Steven J. Reiderer

Dear Ms. Caputi:

This Firm represents the above-referenced lienholder concerning its duly perfected security interest in the vehicle seized by Suffolk County under the case number and names above, (Copy of MV-901 enclosed)

My client would like to recover the vehicle quickly, before the vehicle loss value due to depreciation or assessment of charges. Please consider the date of this letter as the date of the lienholder's formal request for purposes of fixing any storage fees chargeable to the lienholder.

I would appreciate it if you would send me a settlement proposal with a specific dollar amount of storage fixed as of the date of this letter.

Please advise as to the County's position on this request.

Very truly your

Rudolph J. Meola Attorney

Enc.

Cc: Santander Consumer USA, Inc.

Please submit proper Paperword Sim our website for beacholder to pick up Nehicle www.suffolks.suntyny.gov

EXHIBIT I

09/09/2015 15:49

6318535306

SC DEPT OF LAW

PAGE 03/05

Sep. 4. 2015 10:41AM

MEOLA LAW FIRM

No. 4999

LAW OFFICES OF RUDOLPH J. MEOLA

1822 WESTERN AVE . ALBANY, NY 12203 TEL. (518) 713-2030 • FAX (518) 713-2032

September 4, 2015

Jacqueline Caputi Assistant County Attorney . Suffolk County Attorney's Office 100 Veterans Memorial Highway P.O. Box 6100 Hampauge, NY 11788

Telefax:631-£53-5306

Re:

Lienholder: TD Auto Finance, LLC

Vehicle: 2012 Dodge Ram

VIN: 1C6RD7GP5CS10280F

Registered Owner & Titled Owner: Gregory W. William's

Dear Ms. Caputi,

This Firm represents the above-referenced lienholder concerning its duly perfected security interest in the vehicle seized by Suffolk County under the case number and names above. (Copy of MV-901 enclosed)

My client would like to recover the vehicle quickly, before the vehicle lows value due to depreciation or assessment of charges. Please consider the date of this litter as the date of the titled owner's formal request for purposes of fixing any storage feel chargeable to the titled owner.

9/9/15
adjourned to 9/11/15.
Subjut forms on our
Subjute if lierholder
website if lierholder
website if lierholder I would appreciate it if you would send me a settlement proposal with a specific dollar amount of storage fixed as of the date of this letter.

Please advise as to the County's position on this request.

Rudolph J. Mcola

Attorney

Co: TD Auto Finance, LLC

EXHIBIT J

05/11/2016 10:27 6318535306 May. 10, 2016 4:11PM MEOLA LAW FIRM SC DEPT OF LAW

PAGE 01/01

P. 1/2 No. 6304

Law Offices of Rudolph J. Meola

1822 WESTERN AVE . ALBANY, NY 12203 Tel. (518) 713-2030 • FAX (518) 713-2032

May 10, 2016

Jacqueline Caputi Assistant County Attorney Suffolk County Attorney's Office 100 Veterans Memorial Highway P.O. Box 6100 Hauppauge, NY 11788

Telefax: 631-1:53-5306

RE

CC#116-0184578 Lienholder: American Honda Finance Corp. Vehicle: 2016 Honda Accord VIN: 1HGCR2F38GA057911 Registered Owner/Operator: Sergio E. Mendizabal

Titled Owner: Sergio E. Mendizabal and Muhammad U. Butt

Dear Ms. Caputi:

This Pirm represents the above-referenced lienholder concerning its July perfected scourity interest in the vehicle selzed by Suffolk County under the case number and names above, (Copy of DMV printout enclosed)

My client would like to recover the vehicle quickly, before the vehicle loses value due to depreciation or assessment of charges. Please consider the date of this letter as the date of the lienholder's formal request for purposes of fixing any storage fees chargeable to the lienholder.

I would appreciate it if you would send me a settlement proposal with z. specific dollar amount of storage fixed as of the date of this letter.

Please advise as to the County's position on this request,

Very truly yours

Enc.

Cc: American Honda Finance Corp.

lis of 11/15 owner is in de fault. De lien-

holder worts to pull up the vehicle please Submit paper on our website

suffolkiontyny, 90V

EXHIBIT K

09/09/2015 15:49

6318535306

SC DEPT OF LAW

PAGE 01/05

Sep. 9. 2015 10:06AM MEOLA LAW FIRM

No. 5011 P. 1/2

LAW OFFICES OF RUDOLPH J. MEOLA

1822 Western Ave • Albany, NY 12203 Tel. (518) 713-2030 • Fax (518) 713-2032

September 9, 2015

Jacqueline Caputi
Assistant County Attorney
Suffolk County Attorney's Office
100 Veterans Memorial Highway
P.O. Box 6100
Hauppauge, NY 11788

Telefax: 631-153-5306

RE: CC#: 15-0441186

Lienholder: Toyota Motor Credit Corp.

Vehicle: 2014 Toyota Camry

VIN: 4T1BF1FK8EU360443

Registered Owner/Titled Owner: Fatima Ulloa Operator: Rosa Jarsmillo-Ulloa

Dear Ms. Caputi;

This Firm represents the above-referenced lienholder concerning its duly perfected security interest in the vehicle seized by Suffolk County under the case number and names above. (Copy of DMV printout is enclosed)

My client would like to recover the vehicle quickly, before the vehicle loss value due to depreciation or assessment of charges. Please consider the date of this letter as the date of the lienholder's formal request for purposes of fixing any storage fees of suggestion to the lienholder.

I would appreciate it if you would send me a settlement proposal with a specific dollar amount of storage fixed as of the date of this letter.

Please advise as to the County's position on this request.

Submit forms on our website if hearholder wishes to make forward, on coloridar alilis.

Very truly yours,

Kudolph J. M

12mm

Co: Toyota Motor Credit Corp.

EXHIBIT L

08/14/2015 12:57 6318535306 MVB: 13: ZVID 3:13PM MEOLA LAW FIRM

SC DEPT OF LAW

PAGE 01/01

No. 4902 P. 1

Law Offices of Rudolph J. Meola

1822 WESTERN AVE • ALBANY, NY 12203 TEL (518) 713-2030 • FAX (518) 713-2032

August 13, 2015

Jacqueline Caputi
Assistant County Attorney
Suffolk County Attorney's Office
100 Veterans Memorial Highway
P.O. Box 6100
Hauppauge, NY 11788

Telefax & Mail:631-853-5306

RE: CC #: 15-0394588

Vehicle: 2014 Toyota Avalon Registered Owner: Nichole R. Muhlhauser Lienholder: Toyota Motor Credit Corp.

Titled Owner: Nichole R. Mublhauser VIN: 4T1BK1EB2E11095479 Coperator: Brian T. Muhlhauser

Dear Ms. Caputi:

This Firm represents the above-referenced lienholder concerning its duly perfected security interest in the vehicle soized by Suffolk County under the case number and names above. (Copy of MV-901 enclosed)

My client would like to recover the vehicle quickly, before the vehicle loss value due to depreciation or assessment of charges. Please consider the date of this letter as the date of the titled owner's formal request for purposes of fixing any storage fees chargeable to the titled owner.

I would appreciate it if you would send me a settlement proposal with a specific dollar amount of storage fixed as of the date of this letter.

Please advise as to the County's position on this request.

or truly you

Rudolph J. Meola

Enc.

Co: Toyota Motor Credit Corp.

Rudy-1180.10 provides. car psched up by

8/ \$18 pms neceipti

ow forms

Send us formed as ap

EXHIBIT M

02/16/2016 12:09

6318535306

SC DEPT OF LAW

PAGE 02/02

COUNTY OF SUFFOLK



DENNIS M. BROWN COUNTY ATTORNEY

DEPARTMENT OF LAW

PRIVILEGED & CONFIDENTIAL ATTORNEY-CLIENT COMMUNICATION/ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT INTER-OFFICE/INTRA-AGENCY COMMUNICATION NOT SUBJECT TO FOIL DISCLOSURE NOT FOR DISTRIBUTION

MEMORANDUM

YIA FACSIMILE - 2.8058

To:

Sgt. Michael Mallin

C.O., SC Impound Facility

From:

Kathryn Cantwell

Vehicle Seizures

Re:

Release of Vehicle seized pursuant to Suffolk County Law § 420

a 2011 Hyundai

VIN No.: KMHDH4AEXBU111335

Operator: Leonardi A Luisi Owner: Leonardi A Luisi

CC: 15-514270

Lienholder: Hyundai Motor Finance

Date:

February 16, 2016

Please allow this memorandum to serve as authorization to release the above referenced vehicle to the Lienholder, or their authorized agent, upon payment of applicable towing and storage fees.

Be advised that the release of this vehicle is subject to payment of towing and storage charges from the date of seizure, up until and including January 4, 2016. The vehicle must be picked up by Friday, February 19, 2016 or the fees will begin to accrue again.

Should you have any questions, please contact me at 853-5668.

EXHIBIT N

COUNTY OF SUFFOLK



DENNIS M. BROWNCOUNTY ATTORNEY

DEPARTMENT OF LAW

PRIVILEGED & CONFIDENTIAL ATTORNEY-CLIENT COMMUNICATION/ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT INTER-OFFICE/INTRA-AGENCY COMMUNICATION NOT SUBJECT TO FOIL DISCLOSURE NOT FOR DISTRIBUTION

MEMORANDUM

VIA FACSIMILE - 2.8058

To:

Sgt. Michael Mallin

C.O., SC Impound Facility

From:

Lucille Schneider

Vehicle Seizuces

Re:

Release of Vehicle seized pursuant to Suffolk County Law § 420

a 2015 Dodge

VIN No.: 2C3CDXBG4FH826461

Operator: Sheldon J Davis

Owner: Zem Peritus Auto Group LLC

Lienholder: Chrysler Capital

CC: 16-101669

Date:

December 13, 2017

Please allow this memorandum to serve as authorization to release the above referenced vehicle to the Lienholder <u>only</u>, or the Lienholder's authorized agent, upon payment of applicable towing and storage fees.

Be advised that the release of this vehicle is subject to payment of towing and storage charges in the amount of \$1500.00.

Please notify the lienholder by phone that the impound has received the proper releases from the County Attorney's Office and the vehicle is ready to be picked up.

EXHIBIT O



WESTHAMPTON BEACH POLICE

INCORPORATED VILLAGE OF WESTHAMPTON BEACH

Trevor T. Gonce - Chief of Police

165 Mill Road Westhampton Beach, New York 11978 (631) 288-3444 – fax (631) 288-4347

NOTICE OF SEIZURE AND HEARING

DATE: 12/23/2017	cc# <u>17-0403/</u>
TITLED OWNER: LIZNHOLDER BELOW ADDRESS:	VIN#: SUXWX9CSIGOD86697
REGISTERED OWNER: ANDREA MACOOX ADDRESS: 230 WASHINGTON AVE. RIVERHEAD, NY 1901	MAKE/MODEL: BMW/X3
LIENHOLDER: MET BANK ADDRESS:	OPERATOR: OWNER OPERATOR ANDREA MADDOX

YOUR VEHICLE OR VESSEL HAS BEEN SEIZED AND IMPOUNDED BY THE POLICE PURSUANT TO THE DRIVING WHILE INTOXICATED, BOATING WHILE INTOXICATED OR RECKLESS DRIVING SEIZURE LAW

Officers shall, by authority of Suffolk County Code 420, seize the motor vehicle or vessel operated by a person arrested for: a violation of NYS VTL §§1192.2, 1192.2a, 1192.3, 1192.4, 1192.4a or NYS Navigation Law §49-a, when the person has a prior misdemeanor conviction within New York State for VTL §§1192.2, 1192.2a, 1192.3, 1192.4 or 1192.4a or NYS Navigation Law §49-a, or who has been found guilty of violating §1192-a of the New York State Vehicle and Traffic Law; or a violation of NYS VTL §1212, when the person has a prior misdemeanor conviction within New York State for VTL § 1212.

Officers will also seize the motor vehicle or vessel of an individual detained under §1192-a who has been found guilty of violating § 1192-a on a prior occasion or who has a prior conviction for VTL §§1192.2, 1192.2a, 1192.3, 1192.4, 1192.4a or NYS Navigation Law §49-a.

The police have no discretion and they cannot give you legal advice. The law requires the seizure of all vehicles or vessels, whether owned by the operator/driver or not.

Pursuant to Suffolk County Law § 420-5, there will be a hearing promptly scheduled before a neutral Magistrate to determine whether probable cause existed for the operator's warrantless arrest, whether the County is likely to succeed on the merits of the forfeiture action, whether retention is necessary to preserve the vehicle from destruction or sale during the

Case 2:18-cv-05302 Document 1-15 Filed 09/20/18 Page 3 of 3 PageID #: 104

pendency of the forfeiture proceeding, and whether any other measures would better protect the County's interest during the proceedings, including, but not limited to: (a) Issuance of a restraining order prohibiting the sale, transfer, or loss of the vehicle with imposition(s) of appropriate penalties for violation of said restraining order; (b) Taking of a bond; and/or (c) Use of an interlock device.

YOUR HEARING HAS BEEN SCHEDULED FOR:

DATE:

) ANUANY 11, 2018

TIME:

9:30 am

PLACE:

Arthur M. Cromarty Court Complex

Courtroom No. 16 210 Center Drive

Riverhead, New York 11901

If you require a language translator for your hearing, please call (631) 853-5668 as soon as you receive this Notice.

If you want to regain possession of a vehicle or vessel, or if you need legal advice, you may consult with an attorney. You are not required to have an attorney present to proceed at the hearing. Do not call the office of the County Attorney because they cannot give you legal advice.

Requests for adjournments of a hearing are to be made in writing, explaining the reason for the need for the adjournment, and must be received by the County Attorney's office at the address below, or by facsimile, at least two (2) business days prior to the scheduled date of the hearing. Please provide a contact telephone number.

> Suffolk County Department of Law H. Lee Dennison Bldg., 6th Floor 100 Veterans Memorial Highway, P.O. Box 6100 Hauppauge, New York 11788 Facsimile - (631) 853-5306

Only one adjournment may be granted, absent exceptional circumstances. Hearings are conducted on Thursdays. If you do not appear on your scheduled date, and do not timely request an adjournment, the hearing will be conducted in your absence.

TRANSFERRING OWNERSHIP TO THE COUNTY

If your vehicle or vessel is not encumbered with a lien (i.e., an outstanding loan on the conveyance), and you wish to turn ownership of the conveyance over to the County in order to avoid the commencement of a forfeiture action against you, you can forward the original, executed title to the above address. For vehicles manufactured prior to 1973, or vessels manufactured prior to 1987, you can forward the executed registration to the above address. No impound fees will be owed by you if you surrender title or registration, as above, to the County, prior to the commencement of the civil action.

EXHIBIT P

	SEIZURE HEARING
	IN THE MATTER OF THE SEIZURE OF A VEHICLE BEARING VEHICLE INDENTIFICATION NUMBER DETERMINATION
	5UXWX9C51G0D86697
	OWNED BY
	ANDREA MADDOX
	AND OPERATED BY
	ANDREA MADDOX
,	A hearing was conducted on Flo 27 20 8 in accordance with the Suffolk County Code concerning the seizure of the vehicle bearing the above noted Vehicle Identification Number. The following persons were in attendance and/or testified at the hearing: DENNIS M. BROWN Suffolk County Attorney 100 Veterans Memorial Highway P.O. Box 6100 Hauppauge, New York 11788 (631) 853-4049 BY: Jacqueline Caputi Assistant County Attorney Name(s) and Address(es) of Owner(s), if present:
	Name and Address of Operator, if present:
	M6 appensance

Name(s) and	Address(es) of Witnesses:
116	appearance
- 740	. Up for the first
Based upon t	the testimony and proof presented during the hearing, I make the following in:
<u> </u>	SUFFOLK COUNTY IS DIRECTED TO RETAIN THE VEHICLE BEARING THE ABOVE NOTED VEHICLE IDENTIFICATION NUMBER PENDING RESOLUTION OF A FORFEITURE PROCEEDING.
•	SUFFOLK COUNTY IS DIRECTED TO RETURN THE VEHICLE BEARING THE ABOVE NOTED VEHICLE IDENTIFICATION NUMBER TO THE OWNER OF THE VEHICLE. THIS DETERMINATION DOES NOT AFFECT THE OWNER'S(S') LIABILITY FOR ALL APPLICABLE AND ACCRUED FEES AND CHARGES, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, TOWING AND STORAGE FEES.
	SUFFOLK COUNTY IS DIRECTED TO RETURN THE VEHICLE BEARING THE ABOVE NOTED VEHICLE IDENTIFICATION NUMBER TO THE OWNER OF THE VEHICLE BASED UPON THE FOLLOWING CONDITION AND/OR CONDITIONS:
	OWNER(S) IS/ARE TO POST A BOND IN THE AMOUNT OF \$, IN FAVOR OF SUFFOLK COUNTY PRIOR TO THE RETURN OF THE VEHICLE. THIS DETERMINATION DOES NOT AFFECT THE OWNER'S(S') LABILITY FOR ALL APPLICABLE AND ACCRUED FEES AND CHARGES, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, TOWARG AND STORAGE FEES.
	OWNER(S) MUST OBTAIN AND SHOW PROOF OF AN APPOINTMENT TO HAVE THE INTERLOCK DEVICE INSTALLED WITHIN 24 HOURS AFTER THE RELEASE OF THE VEHICLE. OWNER(S) MUST SIGN A STIPULATION REGARDING THE SAME. FURTHER:
	A) OWNER(S) CONSENTS TO THE RE-SEIZURE OF THE VEHICLE WHEREVER IT IS LOCATED IN A MONTHLY REPORT SHOWS A POSITIVE READING OR NON COMPLIANCE WITH THE DEVICE REQUIREMENTS.

B) IF THE DEVICE IS NOT INSTALLED THE NEXT BUSINESS DAY THE \$500 DEPOSIT WILL BE IMMEDIATELY FORFEITED TO THE COUNTY AND THE VEHICLE RE-SEIZED WITHOUT FURTHER
NOTICE.
THIS DETERMINATION DOES NOT AFFECT THE OWNER'S(S') LIABILITY FOR ALL APPLICABLE AND ACCRUED FEES AND CHARGES, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, TOWING AND STORAGE FEES.
PRIOR TO THE RETURN OF THE VEHICLE THE OWNER(S) MUST EXECUTE A STIPULATION THAT THE VEHICLE WILL NOT BE OPERATED BY AT ANY TIME IN THE FUTURE.
THIS DETERMINATION DOES NOT AFFECT THE OWNER'S(S') LIABILITY FOR ALL APPLICABLE AND ACCRUED FEES AND CHARGES, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, TOWING AND
STORAGE FEES. IN THE EVENT ANY VEHICLE OWNED BY IS SEIZED AGAIN PURSUANT TO LOCAL LAW
CHAPTER 420, ARTICLE II, ALL AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES RELATING TO LACK OF KNOWLEDGE OR CONSENT WILL BE WAIVED, AND THAT VEHICLE WILL BE SUBJECT TO AUTOMATIC AND IMMEDIATE
FORFEITURE BY THE COUNTY WITHOUT FURTHER NOTICE.
Duner 9 operator Notified of hearing
Default
This determination does not affect the retention of the above vehicle by the police department or other law enforcement officials based upon other grounds, including, but not limited to, retention as evidence in a criminal prosecution.
DATED: 2/22/18

Neutral Magistrate

SEIZURE HEARING	
IN THE MATTER OF THE SEIZURE OF A VEHICLE BEARING VEHICLE INDENTIFICATION NUMBER	DETERMINATION
5UXWX9C51G0D86697	
OWNED BY	
ANDREA MADDOX	
AND OPERATED BY	
ANDREA MADDOX	· · ·
A hearing was conducted on Fello, 22.20 18 in acc Code concerning the seizure of the vehicle bearing the above in Number. The following persons were in attendance and/or test DENNIS M. BROWN Suffolk County Attorney 100 Veterans Memorial Highway P.O. Box 6100 Hauppauge, New York 11788 (631) 853-4049 DOW W. SCHIMM BY: Jacqueline Caputi Assistant County Attorney	oted Vehicle Identification
Name(s) and Address(es) of Owner(s), if present:	
no appearance.	
Name and Address of Operator, if present:	
MG appensance	
	· .

Name(s) and	Address(es) of Witnesses:
M6	appearance
Based upon the determination	the testimony and proof presented during the hearing, I make the following in:
<u>_C</u>	SUFFOLK COUNTY IS DIRECTED TO RETAIN THE VEHICLE BEARING THE ABOVE NOTED VEHICLE IDENTIFICATION NUMBER PENDING RESOLUTION OF A FORFEITURE PROCEEDING.
•	SUFFOLK COUNTY IS DIRECTED TO RETURN THE VEHICLE BEARING THE ABOVE NOTED VEHICLE IDENTIFICATION NUMBER TO THE OWNER OF THE VEHICLE. THIS DETERMINATION DOES NOT AFFECT THE OWNER'S(S') LIABILITY FOR ALL APPLICABLE AND ACCRUED FEES AND CHARGES, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, TOWING AND STORAGE FEES.
	SUFFOLK COUNTY IS DIRECTED TO RETURN THE VEHICLE BEARING THE ABOVE NOTED VEHICLE IDENTIFICATION NUMBER TO THE OWNER OF THE VEHICLE BASED UPON THE FOLLOWING CONDITION AND/OR CONDITIONS:
	OWNER(S) IS/ARE TO POST A BOND IN THE AMOUNT OF \$, IN FAVOR OF SUFFOLK COUNTY PRIOR TO THE RETURN OF THE VEHICLE. THIS DETERMINATION DOES NOT AFFECT THE OWNER'S(S') LIABILITY FOR ALL APPLICABLE AND ACCRUED FEES AND CHARGES, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, TOWING AND STORAGE FEES.
	OWNER(S) MUST OBTAIN AND SHOW PROOF OF AN APPORTMENT TO HAVE THE INTERLOCK DEVICE INSTALLED WITHIN 24 HOURS AFTER THE RELEASE OF THE VEHICLE. OWNER(S) MUST SIGN A STIPULATION REGARDING THE SAME. FURTHER:
	A) OWNER(S) CONSENTS TO THE RE-SEIZURE OF THE VEHICLE WHEREVER IT IS LOCATED IN A MONTHLY REPORT SHOWS A POSITIVE READING OR NON COMPLIANCE WITH THE DEVICE REQUIREMENTS.

B) IF THE DEVICE IS NOT INSTALLED THE NEXT BUSINESS DAY THE \$500 DEPOSIT WILL BE IMMEDIATELY FORFEITED TO THE COUNTY AND THE VEHICLE RE-SEIZED WITHOUT FURTHER NOTICE. THIS DETERMINATION DOES NOT AFFECT THE OWNER'S(S') LIABILITY FOR ALL APPLICABLE AND ACCRUED FEES AND CHARGES, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, TOWING AND STORAGE FEES. PRIOR TO THE RETURN OF THE VEHICLE THE OWNER(S) MUST EXECUTE A STIPULATION THAT THE VEHICLE WILL NOT BE AT ANY TIME IN THE FUTURE. OPERATED BY THIS DETERMINATION DOES NOT AFFECT THE OWNER'S(S') LIABILITY FOR ALL APPLICABLE AND ACCRUED FEES AND CHARGES, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, TOWING AND STORAGE FEES. IN THE EVENT ANY VEHICLE OWNED BY IS SEIZED AGAIN PURSUANT TO LOCAL LAW CHAPPER 420, ARTICLE II, ALL AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES RELATING TO LACK OF KNOWLEDGE OR CONSENT WILL BE WAIVED, AND THAT VEHICLE WILL BE SUBJECT TO AUTOMATIC AND IMMEDIATE FORFEITURE BY THE COUNTY WITHOUT FURTHER NOTICE.

DWNER 9 operator	Notified	of hearing
Default		Ą
	·	

This determination does not affect the retention of the above vehicle by the police department or other law enforcement officials based upon other grounds, including, but not limited to, retention as evidence in a criminal prosecution.

DATED: 2/22/18

Neutral Magistrate

EXHIBIT Q

M&TBank

Consumer Lending Department Remarketing Support P.O. Box 2187 Buffalo, New York 14240

3/30/2018 1:11:55 PM

NOTICE OF OUR PLAN TO SELL PROPERTY

ANDREA E MADDOX 230 WASHINGTON AV RIVERHEAD, NY 11901

Retail Installment Sale Contract Account Number: 10053989160001 (the "Contract")

Collateral: 2016 BMW X3 (the "Collateral")

VIN: 5UXWX9C51G0D86697

We have your Collateral because you broke promises in our agreement. We will sell the Collateral at private sale sometime after 4/14/2018.

The money that we get from the sale (after paying our costs) will reduce the amount you owe. If we get less money than you owe, you will still owe us the difference. If we get more money than you owe, you will get the extra money, unless we must pay it to someone else.

You can get the property back at any time before we sell it by paying us the full amount you owe (not just the past due payments) including our expenses. To learn the exact amount you must pay, call us at 1-800-724-8644. You can also get it back for less. See Additional Information below.

If you want us to explain to you in writing how we have figured the amount that you owe us, you may call us at 1-800-724-8644 or write us at M&T Bank, Attention: Remarketing Support, PO Box 2187, Buffalo, NY 14240 and request a written explanation. If you need more information about the sale call us at 1-800-724-8644 or write us at M&T Bank, Attention: Remarketing Support, PO Box 2187, Buffalo, NY 14240.

We are sending this notice to the following other people who have an interest in the Collateral or who owe money under your agreement:

(names of all other debtors and obligors, if any)

Additional Information:

Getting the Vehicle Back for Less: At any time before the sale, we will allow you to get the Collateral back and reinstate your Contract by paying certified funds to M&T all past due installment payments under your Contract (including all late charges), plus our expenses. You must mail your payment to M&T Bank, PO Box 844, Buffalo, NY 14240. The amount you must pay to reinstate your Contract and get the Collateral back as of the date of this letter is as follows:

PAST DUE PAYMENTS ON YOUR ACCOUNT: \$1,288,48 ACCRUED LATE CHARGES: \$ 290.54 **REPOSSESSION FEES:** \$ 400.00 TOTAL AMOUNT DUE: \$1,979.02

Right to Redeem:

REPO # Sor M+TBANK 1800 837-7450

You also have the right to get the Collateral back at any time before we sell it by paying us the full amount you owe (not just the past due payments) including our expenses ("redeem"). You may call us at 1-800-724-8644 or write us at M&T Bank, Attention: Remarketing Support, PO Box 2187, Buffalo, NY 14240 to obtain information concerning the amount due to redeem the Collateral and to arrange to redeem the Collateral. As of the date of this notice, the amount required to redeem the Collateral is:

Unpaid principal balance:	\$38,674.79
Accrued finance charges:	\$ 93.50
Unpaid late charges:	\$ 290.54
Repossession expenses:	\$ 400.00
Sale preparation expenses:	\$ 200.00
Storage expenses:	\$ 90.00
Attorney fees incurred:	\$ 0.00
Legal costs incurred:	\$ 0.00
Other amounts due (itemize and describe)	

Amount Required to Redeem: \$39,748.83

The longer you wait, the more you may have to pay to get the Collateral back. The amount of finance charges you owe will increase each day you pay after the date of this notice. We may also incur additional expenses for which you may be responsible including the reasonable expenses of repossessing, holding, preparing for sale and selling the property and reasonable attorneys' fees and legal expenses, as permitted by law. Your right to reinstate the Contract or to redeem the Collateral by paying all that you owe continues until the Collateral is sold. If you wish to get the Collateral back, you may obtain updated information concerning the amount required or discuss you options for getting the Collateral back by calling us at 1-800-724-8644 or by writing us at M&T Bink, Attention: Remarketing Support, PO Box 2187, Buffalo, NY 14240

We may report information about your Account to credit bureaus. Late payments, missed payments, or other defaults on your Account may be reflected in your credit report.

As noted above, you are entitled to an accounting of the unpaid indebtedness secured by the Collateral we intend to sell. You may request an accounting by calling 1-800-724-8644.

If you have filed for relief under the United States Bankruptcy Code, please understand that this Notice is given to you as a requirement of State Law and is not an attempt to collect a debt, including any deficiency after the sale. However, if you have not filed for relief under the United States Bankruptcy Code, then this is an attempt to collect a debt and any information obtained will be used for that purpose.

If you have any questions regarding this notice, or would like to obtain information regarding the debt secured by the Collateral or the intended sale of the Collateral as described above, please contact us immediately by calling 1-800-724-8644 or by writing to us at M&T Bank, Attention: Remarketing Support, PO Box 2187. Buffalo, NY 14240. The office hours associated with our phone number 1-800-724-8644 are Monday through Thursday 8:00 am - 9:00 pm, EST and Friday 8:00 am - 5:00 pm EST.

Sincerely,

Ms. Deborah Peck Repossession Specialist

EXHIBIT R



TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON POLICE DEPARTMENT

131 Wainscott Northwest Road P.O. Box 909 Wainscott, NY 11975-0909



Fax 631-537-6833

NOTICE OF SEIZURE AND HEARING

DATE: October 12, 2016	CC# 16-16605
TITLED OWNER:ADDRESS:	VIN #: JN8AS58V18W403090
REGISTERED OWNER ADDRESS:	MAKE/MODEL® Nissan Rogue
LIENHOLDER: N/A ADDRESS:	OPERATOR

YOUR VEHICLE OR VESSEL HAS BEEN SEIZED AND IMPOUNDED BY THE POLICE PURSUANT TO THE DRIVING WHILE INTOXICATED, BOATING WHILE INTOXICATED OR RECKLESS DRIVING SEIZURE LAW

Officers shall, by authority of Suffolk County Code 420, seize the motor vehicle or vessel operated by a person arrested for: a violation of NYS VTL §§1192.2, 1192.2a, 1192.3, 1192.4, 1192.4a or NYS Navigation Law §49-a, when the person has a prior misdemeanor conviction within New York State for VTL §§1192.2, 1192.2a, 1192.3, 1192.4 or 1192.4a or NYS Navigation Law §49-a, or who has been found guilty of violating §1192-a of the New York State Vehicle and Traffic Law; or a violation of NYS VTL §1212, when the person has a prior misdemeanor conviction within New York State for VTL § 1212.

Officers will also seize the motor vehicle or vessel of an individual detained under §1192-a who has been found guilty of violating § 1192-a on a prior occasion or who has a prior conviction for VTL §§1192.2, 1192.2a, 1192.3, 1192.4, 1192.4a or NYS Navigation Law §49-a.

The police have no discretion and they cannot give you legal advice. The law requires the seizure of all vehicles or vessels, whether owned by the operator/driver or not.

Pursuant to Suffolk County Law § 420-5, there will be a hearing promptly scheduled before a neutral Magistrate to determine whether probable cause existed for the operator's warrantless arrest, whether the County is likely to succeed on the merits of the forfeiture action, whether retention is necessary to preserve the vehicle from destruction or sale during the

EXHIBIT S



Thomas M. Cummings Chief of Police

Hillage of Southampton

POLICE DEPARTMENT 151 Windmill Lane Southampton, N.Y. 11968-4898

Emergency: 911 Non-emergency: (631) 283-0056 Business: (631) 283-0083 Fax: (631) 283-3304



NOTICE OF SEIZURE AND HEARING

DATE: JUNE 6, 2016	CC# 5962-16
TITLED OWNER: ADDRESS:	VIN #: WBXPC93487WF13907
REGISTERED OWNER: SAME ADDRESS:	MAKE/MODEL: 2007 BMW SI
LIENHOLDER:ADDRESS:	OPERATOR:
YOUR VEHICLE OR VESSEL HAS BEEN SEIZ	ED AND IMPOUNDED BY THE POLICE

YOUR VEHICLE OR VESSEL HAS BEEN SEIZED AND IMPOUNDED BY THE POLICE PURSUANT TO THE DRIVING WHILE INTOXICATED, BOATING WHILE INTOXICATED OR RECKLESS DRIVING SEIZURE LAW

Officers shall, by authority of Suffolk County Code 420, seize the motor vehicle or vessel operated by a person arrested for: a violation of NYS VTL §§1192.2, 1192.2a, 1192.3, 1192.4, 1192.4a or NYS Navigation Law §49-a, when the person has a prior misdemeanor conviction within New York State for VTL §§1192.2, 1192.2a, 1192.3, 1192.4 or 1192.4a or NYS Navigation Law §49-a, or who has been found guilty of violating §1192-a of the New York State Vehicle and Traffic Law; or a violation of NYS VTL §1212, when the person has a prior misdemeanor conviction within New York State for VTL § 1212.

Officers will also seize the motor vehicle or vessel of an individual detained under §1192-a who has been found guilty of violating § 1192-a on a prior occasion or who has a prior conviction for VTL §§1192.2, 1192.2a, 1192.3, 1192.4, 1192.4a or NYS Navigation Law §49-a.

The police have no discretion and they cannot give you legal advice. The law requires the seizure of all vehicles or vessels, whether owned by the operator/driver or not.

Pursuant to Suffolk County Law § 420-5, there will be a hearing promptly scheduled before a neutral Magistrate to determine whether probable cause existed for the operator's warrantless arrest, whether the County is likely to succeed on the merits of the forfeiture action, whether retention is necessary to preserve the vehicle from destruction or sale during the

EXHIBIT T

ADULT ARRESTS: 2008 - 2017

						Arrest Year	Year				
Arrest County/Region	rrest County/Region Top Arrest Category	2008	5009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017
Suffolk	Total Arrests	25,158	25,523	25,515	26,015	26,224	23,920	23,230	22,475	20,714	20,990
	Felony Total	6,646	6,785	6,295	6,248	900'9	5,666	5,561	5,324	5,034	5,193
	Drug	1,022	965	904	923	727	723	765	787	792	606
	Violent	1,496	1,581	1,386	1,293	1,314	1,248	1,195	1,075	1,025	945
-	DWI	510	543	285	603	615	543	511	595	488	511
	Other	3,618	3,696	3,423	3,429	3,350	3,152	3,090	2,897	2,729	2,828
	Misdemeanor Total	18,512	18,738	19,220	19,767	20,218	18,254	17,669	17,151	15,680	15,797
	Drug	3,790	3,513	4,391	4,723	5,314	4,403	4,572	4,446	3,951	4,457
	DWI	3,857	3,818	3,473	3,920	3,943	3,585	3,110	3,203	3,099	2,768
	Property	4,794	5,364	5,355	5,200	5,104	4,997	5,093	4,656	4,308	3,962
	Other	6,071	6,043	6,001	5,924	5,857	5,269	4,894	4,846	4,322	4,610

JS 44 (Rev. 11/15)

CIVIL COVER SHEET

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS			-DEFENDANTS.	olk, The Incorporated Vil	lage of Westhampton
• •	ehalf of herself and Others similarly situ	ıated,	Beach, M & T Bank Individually, Drew V	k, Dennis M. Brown, Indi W. Schirmer, Individually	vidually, Leonard Kapsalis, , Jacqueline Caputi,
(b) County of Residence of	First Listed Plaintiff		of Southampton,	own of East Hampton and	The Incorporated Village
(EX	(CEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)			of First Listed Defendant	Suffolk
			NOTE: IN LAND CO	(IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES OF CASES, USE TO OF LAND INVOLVED.	
Campanelli & Associates 1757 Merrick Avenue, Su			Attorneys (If Known)	OF EARD INVOLVED.	
Merrick, NY 11566					
(516) 746-1600		T		AND	
II. BASIS OF JURISDI	CTION (Place an "X" in One Box Only)	III. C	ITIZENSHIP OF PI (For Diversity Cases Only)	RINCIPAL PARTIES	(Place an "X" in One Box for Plaintiff and One Box for Defendant)
☐ 1 U.S. Government			PT		PTF DEF
Plaintiff	(U.S. Government Not a Party)	Citiz	zen of This State	1 Mark 1 Incorporated or Pri of Business In T	
☐ 2 U.S. Government Defendant	☐ 4 Diversity (Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item III)	Citiz	zen of Another State · □	2	
	•	4	zen or Subject of a Oreign Country	3	0606
IV. NATURE OF SUIT					
CONTRACT	TORTS		ORFEITURE/PENALTY	BANKRUPTCY	OTHER STATUTES
☐ 110 Insurance ☐ 120 Marine	PERSONAL INJURY PERSONAL INJU 310 Airplane 365 Personal Injury	1	25 Drug Related Seizure of Property 21 USC 881	☐ 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 ☐ 423 Withdrawal	☐ 375 False Claims Act☐ 376 Qui Tam (31 USC
120 Marine 130 Miller Act	☐ 315 Airplane Product Product Liabilit		i90 Other	28 USC 157	3729(a))
☐ 140 Negotiable Instrument	Liability 367 Health Care/				☐ 400 State Reapportionment
150 Recovery of Overpayment	320 Assault, Libel & Pharmaceutical Slander Personal Injury			PROPERTY RIGHTS 820 Copyrights	☐ 410 Antitrust☐ 430 Banks and Banking
& Enforcement of Judgment 151 Medicare Act	☐ 330 Federal Employers' Product Liability	y		☐ 830 Patent	☐ 450 Commerce
☐ 152 Recovery of Defaulted	Liability 368 Asbestos Persor			☐ 840 Trademark	☐ 460 Deportation
Student Loans	☐ 340 Marine Injury Product ☐ 345 Marine Product Liability	1653	LABOR	SOCIAL SECURITY	☐ 470 Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations
(Excludes Veterans) ☐ 153 Recovery of Overpayment	Liability PERSONAL PROPI	ERTY 7	10 Fair Labor Standards	☐ 861 HIA (1395ff)	☐ 480 Consumer Credit
of Veteran's Benefits	☐ 350 Motor Vehicle ☐ 370 Other Fraud		Act	☐ 862 Black Lung (923)	490 Cable/Sat TV
☐ 160 Stockholders' Suits	☐ 355 Motor Vehicle ☐ 371 Truth in Lendin Product Liability ☐ 380 Other Personal		'20 Labor/Management Relations	☐ 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g))☐ 864 SSID Title XVI	☐ 850 Securities/Commodities/ Exchange
☐ 190 Other Contract ☐ 195 Contract Product Liability	☐ 360 Other Personal Property Damag		'40 Railway Labor Act	☐ 865 RSI (405(g))	890 Other Statutory Actions
☐ 196 Franchise	Injury 385 Property Damag	· 1	51 Family and Medical		☐ 891 Agricultural Acts
	☐ 362 Personal Injury - Product Liability Medical Malpractice		Leave Act 790 Other Labor Litigation		☐ 893 Environmental Matters ☐ 895 Freedom of Information
REAL PROPERTY	CIVIL RIGHTS PRISONER PETITION		91 Employee Retirement	FEDERAL TAX SUITS	Act
☐ 210 Land Condemnation	3 440 Other Civil Rights Habeas Corpus:	ľ	Income Security Act	☐ 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff	☐ 896 Arbitration
☐ 220 Foreclosure ☐ 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment	☐ 441 Voting ☐ 463 Alien Detainee ☐ 510 Motions to Vac:	ate		or Defendant) ☐ 871 IRS—Third Party	☐ 899 Administrative Procedure Act/Review or Appeal of
☐ 240 Torts to Land	☐ 443 Housing/ Sentence	atc		26 USC 7609	Agency Decision
245 Tort Product Liability	Accommodations	<u></u>			☐ 950 Constitutionality of
☐ 290 All Other Real Property	☐ 445 Amer. w/Disabilities - ☐ 535 Death Penalty Employment Other:		IMMIGRATION 62 Naturalization Application		State Statutes
	446 Amer. w/Disabilities - 540 Mandamus & O		165 Other Immigration		
	Other 550 Civil Rights		Actions		
	☐ 448 Education ☐ 555 Prison Conditio				
	Conditions of				
V. ORIGIN (Place an "X" i		747	instated or	erred from	<u>.</u>
	moved from	Red	opened Anothe	er District Litigation	
VI. CAUSE OF ACTION	Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you 42 USC 1983			tutes unless diversity):	
	Deprivation of Property Rights with			CVIDOV VEG1	if demanded in complaint:
VII. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT:	CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION UNDER RULE 23, F.R.Cv.P.	ON J	DEMAND \$ 3,000,000.00	JURY DEMAND	
VIII. RELATED CASI	E(S) (See instructions): JUDGE			DOCKET NUMBER	
DATE	SIGNATURE OF A	TTORNEY	OF RECORD		
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY	Kan				
	MOUNT APPLYING IF	D	JUDGE	MAG. JU	DGE
RECEIPT # Al	MOUNT APPLYING IF	•	10000	171710. 30	

Case 2:18-cv-05302 Document 1-21 Filed 09/20/18 Page 2 of 2 PageID #: 122

CERTIFICATION OF ARBITRATION ELIGIBILITY

Local Arbitration Rule 83.10 provides that with certain exceptions, actions seeking money damages only in an amount not in excess of \$150,000, exclusive of interest and costs, are eligible for compulsory arbitration. The amount of damages is presumed to be below the threshold amount unless a certification to the contrary is filed. Case is Eligible for Arbitration I, Andrew J. Campanelli counsel for , do hereby certify that the above captioned civil action is ineligible for compulsory arbitration for the following reason(s): monetary damages sought are in excess of \$150,000, exclusive of interest and costs, the complaint seeks injunctive relief, the matter is otherwise ineligible for the following reason **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT - FEDERAL RULES CIVIL PROCEDURE 7.1** Identify any parent corporation and any publicly held corporation that owns 10% or more or its stocks: None RELATED CASE STATEMENT (Section VIII on the Front of this Form) Please list all cases that are arguably related pursuant to Division of Business Rule 50.3.1 in Section VIII on the front of this form. Rule 50.3.1 (a) provides that "A civil case is "related" to another civil case for purposes of this guideline when, because of the similarity of facts and legal issues or because the cases arise from the same transactions or events, a substantial saving of judicial resources is likely to result from assigning both cases to the same judge and magistrate judge." Rule 50.3.1 (b) provides that "A civil case shall not be deemed "related" to another civil case merely because the civil case: (A) involves identical legal issues, or (B) involves the same parties." Rule 50.3.1 (c) further provides that "Presumptively, and subject to the power of a judge to determine otherwise pursuant to paragraph (d), civil cases shall not be deemed to be "related" unless both cases are still pending before the court.' NY-E DIVISION OF BUSINESS RULE 50.1(d)(2) 1.) Is the civil action being filed in the Eastern District removed from a New York State Court located in Nassau or Suffolk County? 2.) If you answered "no" above: a) Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in Nassau or Suffolk County? No b) Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in the Eastern District? Yes No c) If this is a Fair Debt Collection Practice Act case, specify the County in which the offending communication was received: If your answer to question 2 (b) is "No," does the defendant (or a majority of the defendants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau or Suffolk County, or, in an interpleader action, does the claimant (or a majority of the claimants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau or Yes No (Note: A corporation shall be considered a resident of the County in which it has the most significant contacts). **BAR ADMISSION** I am currently admitted in the Eastern District of New York and currently a member in good standing of the bar of this court. V Yes No Are you currently the subject of any disciplinary action (s) in this or any other state or federal court? / Yes (If yes, please explain No I certify the accuracy of all information provided above.

Signature:

ClassAction.org

This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this post: <u>Lawsuit: County of Suffolk Releases Seized Vehicles to Third Parties Without Owners' Consent</u>